
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD
	FILE NO.:
	EB‑2009-0096

	

	VOLUME:

DATE:


	9
January 11, 2010
Pamela Nowina
Paul Sommerville
Cynthia Chaplin
	Presiding Member and Vice-Chair
Member

Member


EB-2009-0096
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O. 1998, c. 15, (Schedule B);

AND IN THE MATTER OF  a review of an application filed by Hydro One Networks Inc. for an order approving just and reasonable rates and other charges for electricity distribution for 2010 and 2011.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Monday, January 11, 2010
commencing at 9:04 a.m.
--------------------

VOLUME 9
--------------------

BEFORE:

PAMELA NOWINA

Presiding Member and Vice-Chair

PAUL SOMMERVILLE
Member


CYNTHIA CHAPLIN
Member
MICHAEL MILLAR
Board Counsel
JENNIFER LEA
HAROLD THIESSEN
Board Staff
RUDRA MUKHERJI
DONALD ROGERS
Hydro One Networks Inc.

ANITA VARJACIC
ROBERT WARREN
Consumers Council of Canada (CCC)

MURRAY KLIPPENSTEIN
Pollution Probe

JAMES HAYES
Society of Energy Professionals

PETER THOMPSON
Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters (CME)

RICHARD LONG
Society of Energy Professionals
JAY SHEPHERD
School Energy Coalition (SEC)

PETER FAYE
Energy Probe Research Foundation

DAVID MacINTOSH
DAVID CROCKER
Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario (AMPCO)

MICHAEL BUONAGURO
Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition (VECC)

IAN MONDROW
Electrical Contractors Association of Ontario (ECAO); Rogers Cable Communications (Rogers)

RICHARD STEPHENSON
Power Workers' Union (PWU)
ALSO PRESENT:
GREG VAN DUSEN
Hydro One Networks Inc.

HENRY ANDRE
JULIE GIRVAN
Consumers' Council of Canada

SHELLEY GRICE 
Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario (AMPCO)
1--- Upon commencing at 9:04 a.m.


1Preliminary Matters


4HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 5


M. Roger, S. But, C. Fraser, Sworn

4Examination by Mr. Rogers


16Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow


39Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch


54--- Recess taken at 10:30 a.m.


54--- On resuming at 10:54 a.m.


60Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren


77Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose


96--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:07 p.m.


96--- On resuming at 1:32 p.m.


118Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker


132--- Recess taken at 2:43 p.m.


132--- On resuming at 3:05 p.m.


132Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro


173Procedural Matters


174--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:16 p.m.




4EXHIBIT NO. K9.1:  UPDATED RATE SCHEDULES


14EXHIBIT NO. K9.2:  CORRESPONDENCE BETWEEN HYDRO ONE AND MR. VICKERS.


17EXHIBIT No. K9.3:  CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS OF ROGERS CABLE.


39EXHIBIT NO. K9.4: CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS FROM GEC FOR PANEL 5


63EXHIBIT NO. K9.5:  EDR REPORT OF BOARD, RP-2004-0188.


119EXHIBIT NO. K9.6:  AMPCO'S TABLES OF CHANGES IN INDUSTRIAL OUTPUT FROM LOAD FORECAST



NO
     NO EXHIBITS WERE FILED IN THIS PROCEEDING
100UNDERTAKING No. J9.1:  TO CLARIFY MR. VAN DUSEN'S COMMENT AT TRANSCRIPT VOLUME 3, PAGE 82, STARTING AT LINE 18


103UNDERTAKING NO. J9.2:  PREPARE CONSOLIDATED TABLE REFLECTING MITIGATION OF ROE.


104UNDERTAKING NO. J9.3:  PROVIDE TABLE SIMILAR TO G1, TAB 8, TABLE 1 REFLECTING 2010 PROPOSED RATES.


118UNDERTAKING NO. J9.4:  PROVIDE GS UNDER 50, GS OVER 50 AND RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMER INFORMATION FROM EXHIBIT K9.1 AND PROVIDE IN SAME FORMAT AS EXHIBIT H, TAB 9, SCHEDULE 41.


160UNDERTAKING NO. J9.5:  EXPLAIN WHY BALANCE FOR BILL IMPACT MITIGATION ACCOUNT AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 WAS ZERO, WHILE, ACCORDING TO EXHIBIT H, TAB 7, SCHEDULE 99(G) EXPENDITURES WERE MADE IN 2008 RELATING TO IMPLEMENTING MITIGATION MEASURES.


168UNDERTAKING NO. J9.6:  TO EXPLAIN $400,000 2009 TRANSACTION IN EXHIBIT H, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 110, ATTACHMENT 1, PAGE 3 UNDER DEFERRED PENSION COSTS AND IF THERE WERE TRANSACTIONS IN 2008, AND, IF NOT, WHY.


171UNDERTAKING NO. J9.7:  TO CONFIRM OEB COSTS ACCOUNT FOR 2007 IN EXHIBIT H, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 110, ATTACHMENT 1, PAGE 3, AND TO CLARIFY $100,000 IN PROJECTED INTEREST COSTS TO APRIL 2010.






Monday, January 11, 2010

--- Upon commencing at 9:04 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  Today we resume the hearing of Hydro One's distribution rate application, EB-2009-0096.  Today we plan to hear the examination of witness panel 5, dealing with load forecast, cost allocation and rate design issues.


However, CCC has filed a motion requesting that the Board issue new notice in this proceeding, and before we begin with the panel, I'd like to discuss the appropriate time to hear that motion.  So, Mr. Warren, I wonder if you would give us your thoughts on that.

Preliminary Matters:


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I'm prepared to argue the motion any time the Board wants.  Based on my exchange with Mr. Millar yesterday, I didn't bring the bound case materials and motion records, but they are reasonably easily accessible.


I do think, Madam Chair, that for a number of reasons it would appropriate to hear panel 5 first, among them the fact that they're here and ready to go.


So my preference, Madam Chair, would be to have panel 5 heard, and then I'm really in the Board's hand as to when it is they would like to hear the motion.  I could argue it tomorrow morning if the Board would like.  I'm really in your hands.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, that would be satisfactory to the applicant.  I'd like to finish this panel first, and then deal with the motion, if that's satisfactory to the

Board --


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. ROGERS:  -- tomorrow, because that happened over the weekend.


MS. NOWINA:  Tomorrow.  Well, I believe this panel would probably take more than one day in any case, given the estimates I've seen.  Anyone else want to make a comment?  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I'm concerned that the -- we agree with Mr. Warren that there should be a new notice, but it appears to me that this panel is going to deal with the things on which the notice should be -- needs to be given; that is, the rate impacts, et cetera.


And so if the theory is that anybody who gets the new notice is taking the record as it stands, then they'd be prejudiced by hearing this panel -- us hearing this panel before the notice.


And, therefore, what we might do is we might do the part -- the issues associated in this panel that are not part of that notice, for example, deferral and variance accounts, without dealing with the rate impact stuff.  Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe I'll go back to you, Mr. Warren, because I don't think that was your intention, and maybe you could further explain what your intention was.


MR. WARREN:  It was not my intention.  It was not my intention to have any portion of this hearing reheard.  It was to take the record as it is.  If people want to, based on -- if the Board were to decide that new notice was appropriate, then they could intervene or they could make submissions, but they would take the record as it is.


That may cause some difficulty to people intervening, but I did not have the intention that any portion of the evidentiary portion be delayed.  It's Mr. Shepherd's position -- and Mr. Shepherd and I therefore disagree on that particular position.


MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else have a comment before you, Mr. Rogers?  I'd like to hear from the intervenors.  None?  Okay.  Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  No, I submit that this panel should be finished before we have the motion.  If the Board decided that notice was required and that the panel had to be brought back at some future time, so be it, but let's finish this panel now.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


We're going proceed as Mr. Warren suggested, and Mr. Rogers agreed to.  As Mr. Rogers says, if for some reason we decide some portion of the hearing needs to be reheard, we will have to do that.


Mr. Rogers, do you want to introduce your panel before they're sworn or just make a comment before they're sworn?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  There are a couple of things I'd like to deal with first.  The first order of business is to advise the Board that over the break my client did run the new rate schedules, and we took the liberty of giving it Exhibit K9.1.  If that's satisfactory, could it be given the official imprimatur of K9.1?


MR. MILLAR:  K9.1.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's mark it as that.

EXHIBIT NO. K9.1:  UPDATED RATE SCHEDULES


MR. ROGERS:  That's been distributed to everyone electronically and I do not have extra copies.


MS. NOWINA:  We have our copies, Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  And with that, I'm prepared to begin with the panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Shall we swear the panel, Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 5


Mike Roger, Sworn


Stanley But, Sworn


Colin Fraser, Sworn

MS. NOWINA:  You can go ahead, Mr. Rogers.

Examination by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Let me begin at the left-hand side of the panel, if I could, Stanley But.  Mr. But, your curriculum vitae has been filed as Exhibit A, tab 21, schedule 21, page 2.  Is it an accurate reflection of your qualifications?


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  I see from your curriculum vitae that you have a Master's of Business Administration from York University?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And you have completed course requirements for your master of arts and economics, as well, from York University?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You've been employed with the old Ontario Hydro and Hydro One since about 1980 or so?


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Your present position is manager of economics and load forecasts with the company?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  So you would be responsible for the development of the load forecast underlying this case?


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You've testified on a number of occasions before on this very topic with this Board, I believe, Mr. But?


MR. BUT:  Yes, I have.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


To your left is Mr. Mike Roger.  Mr. Roger, I understand, sir, that your CV is filed at tab 21, schedule 21, page 10 of Exhibit A?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Is it an accurate summary of your experience?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROGERS:  You hold a master of business administration degree from the University of Toronto?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And you also have a Bachelor of Science in industrial and management engineering from the Israel Institute of Technology?


MR. ROGER:  Right.


MR. ROGERS:  Your present position is manager of pricing with the applicant?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  And in that capacity, you are responsible for the development of the rates before the Board and the rate mitigation plan?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You've testified on a number of other occasions before this Board on this topic of rate design and rates?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Can you tell me just -- I'll come back to you, Mr. But.  Just tell us quickly, would you, Mr. Roger, what areas of the evidence will you been responding to this morning?


MR. ROGER:  I'll be responding to Exhibits G1 and G2, with the exception of G2-93.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Mr. But, I neglected to ask you, but could you just tell the Board which areas of the evidence you will be responding to?


MR. BUT:  The load forecast and the CDM impact in the forecast.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, to your left is Mr. Colin Fraser.  Mr. Fraser, your CV is found at Exhibit A, tab 21, schedule 21, page 5.  Is it an accurate reflection of your qualifications, sir?


MR. FRASER:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROGERS:  I understand that you are a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario?


MR. FRASER:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And you have a degree from the University of Toronto in arts?


MR. FRASER:  That's right.


MR. ROGERS:  And, as well, you've completed specific ICAO courses required for CA designation?


MR. FRASER:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You've worked -- you began your career, I see, in the private sector with Clarkson Gordon, Chartered Accountants as a CA?


MR. FRASER:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  And have worked in a number of other positions that are on your CV, starting with Ontario Hydro in about 1989?


MR. FRASER:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Your present position is manager, financial reporting and accounting policy?


MR. FRASER:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Apart from your participation in the Board's process, EB-2008-0408, the transition to international financial reporting standards, have you ever appeared before this Board to give evidence before?


MR. FRASER:  No, the example you provided was the only one.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  And what area of the evidence will you be testifying to this morning?


MR. FRASER:  I'm responsible for regulatory assets in the smart meter adder.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Mr. Roger, as the coordinator of this panel, I'm appointing you as coordinator, can you confirm with me that the evidence that's been filed in this case dealing with the topics this panel will address is an accurate reflection of the company's affairs, so far as you're aware.


MR. ROGER:  To the best of my knowledge, yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  I have a few questions if I might be permitted, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Sure.


MR. ROGERS:  First of all, dealing with you, Mr. But, on an earlier day in the proceeding, Mr. Klippenstein asked a question about the Peaksaver promotion budget for 2009, and he was deferred to panel 4.  He wasn't here in panel 4, and he's asked me to elicit the evidence today.


Can you just tell us for the record, Mr. But, what the Peaksaver promotion budget for 2009 is?


MR. BUT:  $350,000.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Roger, I have a few questions for you, sir, if I could, just to summarize some of the issues that we're going to be dealing with this morning.  First of all, can you briefly describe to the Board the process that you followed to develop the revised rate schedules and bill impacts that have just been marked as Exhibit K9.1.


MR. ROGER:  Yes.  What we did was to calculate the increase in revenues to be collected from basic distribution rates by comparing the revenue requirement for 2010 filed on July 13, 2009 to the 2010 revenue requirement as per transcript Undertaking J4.6.


The resulting percentage increase, which was 4.4 percent -- percent, sorry, was applied to the proposed 2010 basic distribution rates prior to any impact mitigation.


The revised with the 2010 distribution requirement revenue increase is now 14.5 percent, instead of 9.7 percent.  And in 2011, the distribution revenue requirement increase is now 11.5 percent instead of 13.3 percent.


The total average bill impact is estimated to be now under 5 percent in 2010, and under 4 percent in 2011.  For 2010 the bill impact mitigation provided by legacy customers to acquired customers to keep bill impacts based on average consumption to below 10 percent on total bill, is now $1.9 million, instead of $300,000.


MR. ROGERS:  Can you confirm for me, then, that in the revised exhibit that we've just talked about, that the Board's rate mitigation guidelines have been implemented such that the -- just tell us what the result of that is with respect to the 10 percent.


MR. ROGER:  We followed the guideline from the Board that based on average consumption by customer class, the total bill impact will not exceed 10 percent.  And to be able to achieve that, we provided mitigation to acquired customers from legacy customers, which is the same methodology we used in the last proceeding, EB-2007-0681.


MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you, Mr. Roger.  Now, I'm switching topics here, and I'm going deal with this question of density, and Dr. Woo testified here before the Board.


I think you heard the evidence of Dr. Woo, the consultant for Schools Energy Coalition, and as well the evidence of Mr. Todd with respect to this Board's direction to Hydro One on the issue of density.  Could you please summarize for us Hydro One's position with respect to this issue?  Tell us what you've done and why.


MR. ROGER:  This Board ordered Hydro One at the last distribution rate proceeding, EB-2007-0681, to do a more detailed analysis on the relationship between density and cost allocation.  What we did was to consult with stakeholders on how to best approach this Board's direction.


At the April 15, 2009 stakeholder session, the vast majority of the stakeholders recommended that we follow a staged approach and first develop a set of principles that could be followed in undertaking the study ordered by this Board.


As a result, we retained Elenchus Research and Mr. Todd, and he developed the set of principles and outlined possible approaches to respond to the Board's direction.  This information was presented to stakeholders at the May 25th, 2009 session, and Mr. Todd prepared a report which was included as Exhibit G1, tab 2, schedule 5, attachment 1.


Mr. Todd's report describes four approaches that could be followed for allocating costs to urban and rural customers.  Hydro One supports Mr. Todd's view that the status quo is a viable alternative that should be considered as it represents an acceptable approach to address density issues.


Some of the alternatives as described by Mr. Todd and Dr. Woo may be too costly to undertake, and outweigh the potential benefits or are not more cost-based than Hydro One's methodology.


MR. ROGERS:  What do you say about the timing of this process and where we go from here?


MR. ROGER:  Where we go from here is that we would like the Board to take that into consideration, and if the Board decides that we should proceed with the study, we would like some direction on which of the alternatives to follow.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, do you think this is the correct time to make a change like this?


MR. ROGER:  Hydro One questions if this is the correct time to make such a drastic change.  Hydro One is in the middle of the harmonization of its distribution rates process between legacy and acquired customers.  The Board has an ongoing generic review of distribution customer classes and rates in which Board Staff, in its comments on customer classification for the generic review, is recommending against density-based classes.


Given all the issues I just outlined, Hydro One is of the view that for the present time, the current density approach should be maintained until the harmonization of rates process is complete and the Board issues its views with respect to distributors, customer classification, and rate design, and in particular the issue of the appropriateness of density-based customer classification.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


Mr. Todd in his evidence here explained that -- the first phase of this process was to enunciate principles.  And he outlined four approaches that could be considered to address this Board's issues concerning density.  Can you describe at a very high level for us, Mr. Roger, what type of information is or is not available to Hydro One to undertake this undertaking?


MR. ROGER:  The data needed to be able to undertake the alternatives outlined by Mr. Todd range from data needed to do an engineering analysis based on standard scenarios which would be based on current standards.  So this data should be available to a detailed analysis of US of A cost data by customer class, which is not available, and would need to be collected and would take a substantial amount of effort.


MR. ROGERS:  Can you give us just a rough idea of the type of resources that would be required for these alternatives?


MR. ROGER:  Based on a very rough estimate of the cost involved, the engineering analysis should be a matter of months, maybe six months, while the US of A details could take years to develop a proper base.


Of course, you can also do a sample over a few months, but you won't know how representative that sample is.


MR. ROGERS:  Just tell me, very briefly, what is an engineering analysis, exactly?  What would it look at?


MR. ROGER:  It would just take, for example, after we agree on a definition of an urban class is, we would ask the engineers and the planners to tell us what kind of system, distribution system, they would put to supply that kind of customers, and we would do our replacement cost for that, what would be the cost of the feeders, the transformers, estimate the maintenance cost.  So that would be an engineering study.  And we would do the same thing for our rural type customers.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.  I'm sure you'll have some questions from others about that, and I'll leave that topic now.


I'd like now to move to this question of the Hopper Foundry and Mr. Vickers who testified here.


Now, I'm going to ask you to comment on his evidence and tell the Board what's happened and what your recommendation is, but, first, Madam Chair, I can tell you that there were some documents that relate to this issue which were circulated last week, and I wonder if they could be given an exhibit number.


I have extra copies.  There were some communications between Hydro One and Mr. Vickers of which I was not aware when he testified here.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Rogers.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we have copies of these.  It will be Exhibit K9.2.  And this is correspondence between Mr. Vickers and the company; is that right?

EXHIBIT NO. K9.2:  CORRESPONDENCE BETWEEN HYDRO ONE AND MR. VICKERS.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, that's right.  There was some correspondence communications between the company and Mr. Vickers concerning the options available to him, and so on, which I don't believe he mentioned when he was here.  And I'm going to ask Mr. Rogers to comment on it.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, Mr. Roger, you heard, I think, the evidence of Mr. Vickers when he was here?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I did.


MR. ROGERS:  Can you please summarize the company's position concerning this issue?


MR. ROGER:  Mr. Vickers testified on December 17th, 2009 that Mr. Boucher from Hydro One had confirmed that if Hopper shifts operations to daytime, the distribution system in force would not be able to handle it.


This information is out of date.  Between June 26, 2009 and July 7th, 2009, Hydro One conducted a study to monitor the power supply at the site and neighbouring sites.


It was determined that, based on this study, Hopper can shift operations to daytime without causing distribution system loading problems.


This was communicated to Mr. Vickers on October 26th, 2009.  Mr. Vickers raised a few questions with respect to the study conducted, and he received a response from Hydro One on November 26, 2009.  Copies of these two messages were distributed by e-mail to intervenors and Board Secretary last Thursday, and they are the miscellaneous exhibit, K9.2.  We just wanted to set the record straight.


Hydro One is very aware of the substantial increase faced by this customer as a result of eliminating the time differentiated rates, but Hydro One is following guidelines with respect to distribution rates not being time-differentiated.  It is also an issue of fairness to other customers.


Mr. Vickers asked this Board that the plant be allowed to continue to be built on time-differentiated rates.


Hydro One has estimated the revenue lost from Hopper of approximately $60,000 per year, that would need to be collected from other customers, likely the other general service demand billed customers.


MR. ROGERS:  What's Hydro One's position concerning this?  Does it have any objection to continuing this time-of-use treatment for Mr. Vickers if the Board agrees?


MR. ROGER:  No objection, as well as we're allowed to recover the shortfall in revenue requirement from other customers.


MR. ROGERS:  Right.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  The panel is available for further questioning.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Mr. Mondrow, I understand that you want to go first.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair, and my friends have agreed to let us do that.


Good morning, panel.


MR. ROGER:  Good morning.


MR. MONDROW:  I'm asking you questions this morning on behalf of Rogers Cable Communications Inc.  We have had similar discussions in the past.


And, Madam Chair, John Armstrong from Rogers Cable is in the room discretely behind me here this morning, and that's one of the reasons we've asked to proceed, so Mr. Armstrong could observe the examination.  So we appreciate that indulgence.


You should also have, Madam Chair, a package of Cerlox-bound materials from this record, and otherwise, that I'll be referring to during my questions, and these materials were provided to the company and other parties prior to the Christmas and New Year's break, and so I'm wondering if we could start with getting an exhibit number for those.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, let's do that.


MR. MILLAR:  K9.3, the cross-examination materials of Rogers Cable.

EXHIBIT No. K9.3:  CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS OF ROGERS CABLE.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  And, Mr. Roger, I expect that my questions on behalf of Rogers will be primarily for you.  So I would like to start, if I could, with some questions to orient us within the broad considerations of cost allocation, which is really what we have talked about in the past and we'll talk about this morning a little bit.


So can I ask you to agree -- or to consider and hopefully agree to a number of propositions, the first of which is that load shape can influence the costs allocated to a particular customer group?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I agree.


MR. MONDROW:  And that the timing of the peak demand or for a particular customer group relative to other customer groups can also influence what costs are allocated to that first customer group?


MR. ROGER:  Demand-related costs, not fixed costs.


MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  And the different groups of customers, it's trite to say, use distribution assets in different ways, and the differences in the way various groups of customers use the system obviously influence which costs are appropriately allocated to which types of customers; correct?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And, finally, customer care requirements differ between types of customers, and the use of a particular group of customers of customer care facilities can also influence which costs are appropriately allocated to that group of customers; fair?


MR. ROGER:  That's fair.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Now, I'm going to zero in and speak with you for a little bit about your unmetered scatter load or USL customers, in particular, of which Rogers Cable Communications is one, and a relatively large one, I would suggest.


Now, you treat your USL customers as part of your general service customer class; correct?


MR. ROGER:  General service energy billed, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Energy billed.  And the general service energy billed class is a relatively broad class, in the sense that it contains various types of different customers.  Is that an accurate statement?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, it is.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And would you agree that USL loads represent a relatively small portion of load in this relatively broad general service energy billed class, numerically?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And that my client, Rogers Cable Communications, owns and operates cable amplification devices, and these are devices that are powered by Hydro One's distribution system, and they're included in your USL customer group; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  If we could turn to Exhibit K9.3, the book of materials that I provided?  And behind tab 1, I've reproduced your Exhibit G1, tab 4, schedule 5 from this proceeding, and this evidence describes how USL customers' rates are structured; is that right?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And your general service class rates are composed of a fixed charge and a variable charge like most other rates; correct.


MR. ROGER:  Correct, following Board guidelines.


MR. MONDROW:  Following Board guidelines.  And USL customers say the same variable charge as other general service energy billed customers; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  But the fixed charge applied to USL customers is lower than the fixed charge applied to other general service energy billed customers to recognize that for USL customers you don't incur metering costs; is that correct?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And the way you derive the fixed charge for USL customers is you apply a metering credit and you deduct that from the general service energy billed fixed charge, and thereby you get the USL fixed charge; is that right?


MR. ROGER:  That's right.


MR. MONDROW:  And if we look at page 2 of this exhibit and which I've reproduced in our materials, table 1 sets out the fixed charge per the cost allocation study, and that's for the general service energy billed class in general, correct, that 33.95 per month?


MR. ROGER:  I don't find that number.  Could you refer me, again, please?


MR. MONDROW:  Sure, it's Exhibit G1, tab 4, schedule 5.  It's at page 2, and table 1.  In table 1, there's a fixed charge as per cost allocation study in the first row of $33.95 per customer per month, and I've asked whether that is the fixed charge for your general service energy billed customers as a class?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, it is.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And to that fixed charge for general service energy billed customers, in general, you apply the metering credit, in this case, of $6.15 to derive a net fixed charge for USL customers; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.  This is always on the target fixed charge.


MR. MONDROW:  This is the target fixed charge after rate harmonization and when you get to your target rates in 2012, is it?


MR. ROGER:  We hope 2011.


MR. MONDROW:  2011, okay.  Fair enough.  And this net fixed charge for USL customers is applied, as I understand it, to each USL connection; is that right?


MR. ROGER:  That's right.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And you derive this credit through your cost allocation model; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And if we flip to tab 2 of the cross-examination materials, I've reproduce a page from your Exhibit G2, tab 1, schedule 1.  It's attachment 1, and it's page 48.  And am I correct that this sheet illustrates the derivation of the metering credit for USL customers?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And the classes of costs which are removed from the general service energy billed fixed charge for the purposes of setting the fixed charge for USL customers are listed down the left-hand side of this page; correct?

MR. ROGER:  Correct.  This is part of the OEB cost allocation model.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And just to finish up on this context, if I could, I'll ask you to flip back for one more minute to tab 1 of our materials, which is Exhibit G1, tab 4, schedule 5.  And on page 1, heading 2 says "proposal."  But I'm correct that the charge structure reflected in this evidence is the same as the charge structure approved in your last cost-of-service filing; there's no proposed change in that respect.  Correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.  Our methodology is the same. The numbers have changed, but the methodology is the same.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Great.  Now, if I could take you to tab 3 of our materials.  This is a reproduction of one of the interrogatories that we asked you on behalf of Rogers in this case, and it's Exhibit H, tab H, schedule 3.  And we asked you for the revenue-to-cost ratio for your USL customers for test years, and your response, essentially, is you don't have a revenue-to-cost ratio for USL customer; correct?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.  We don't have it as a separate customer class.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, but we didn't ask whether you've you have a different customer class, we asked whether you have a revenue-to-cost ratio, and you don't; right?  You haven't derived one?


MR. ROGER:  No, we haven't, and the only way to derive it is you would have to treat it as a separate customer class.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, you would have to model it as a separate customer; right?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So if I could look at response part, A of this interrogatory, you say that:

"To provide separate revenue-to-cost ratio for legacy USL customers, a substantial amount of effort and information that is not readily available would be required to rerun the cost allocation.  The effort would include make modifications to the OEB cost allocation model and developing load data for USL customers separately.  This cannot be accomplished within the interrogatory response time lines."


Now, Mr. Roger, if the Board so directed you, could you accomplish this for the next time that you file a cost-of-service application?


MR. ROGER:  If the Board so directs it, yes, we could do it.


MR. MONDROW:  And would it entail a significant amount of incremental cost to model USL rates distinct from the rest of your general service class?


MR. ROGER:  It would require efforts to modify the model to introduce a new customer class, develop the load data, and all the individual allocators.  It can be done but it will require effort.

MR. MONDROW:   Would it cost a lot of money to do that?


MR. ROGER:  I don't have an estimate how much it would cost, but I don't think it would be a lot of money; but it requires effort to do it.


MR. MONDROW:  And you did that as part of your 2007 informational cost allocation filing.  You had a separate USL charge modelled in your cost allocation.


MR. ROGER:  Yes, we did.  That was following Board guidelines.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And you produced a revenue-to- cost ratio as part of that filing for USL customers?


MR. ROGER:  Based on that cost allocation and the assumptions used at that time, which are quite different than the assumptions used currently.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And we produced at tab 8 of our cross-examination materials the interrogatory from that case, EB -- sorry, from your last cost-of-service case, the EB-2007-0681 case, that was Exhibit H, tab 8, schedule 5, in that proceeding.  And in response to that interrogatory from that proceeding, you actually provided the cost allocation model output record, which include -- which includes, excuse me, at the last page behind that tab, the last page of that attachment to that interrogatory, the -- in column 19, the USL data for that cost allocation filing.  And if I'm reading this correctly, if I drop down about two-thirds of the way on the page, I see a revenue-to-expenses percentage.  Do you see that row?

MR. ROGER:  Yes, I do.


MR. MONDROW:  And if I'm reading that correctly, based on those data assumptions modelled at that time, the revenue-to-cost ratios for USL customers was 216.54 percent; is that right?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.  But the assumptions used when we run these models are quite different than what we are using now and has been approved by the OEB.


MR. MONDROW:  I understand.   Have you done a revenue-to-cost modelling for USL customers since the time that this model or the sheet that reflects the output from this model was produced?


MR. ROGER:  No.


MR. MONDROW:  No.  Okay.  If I could ask you to go back to tab number 3 of our materials.  This is back on the interrogatory from this proceeding, Exhibit H, tab H, schedule 3.  In part (b) of that interrogatory, we asked:

"If a precise revenue-to-cost ratio for legacy USL customers cannot be provided, please provide the basis for the requested approval for distribution charges proposed for USL customers in this application, and explain how the Board can  conclude that the proposed USL charges are in accord with the directions provided in the Board's November 28, 2007, EB-2007-0667 report, application of cost allocation for electricity distributors in respect of USL customers."


And your response, if I can paraphrase it was essentially that this Board approved the charge structure, which is the same as the charge structure for USL customers you're proposing this year, in the last cost-of-service case, EB-2007-0681, and that should be sufficient basis for this Panel to conclude that those charges remain just and reasonable.  Is that a fair paraphrase of your position?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, it is.


MR. MONDROW:  And in that previous case, you did not undertake any USL revenue-to-cost modelling in your evidence; is that correct?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct, and the Board had not requested us to do it.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Can we go to tab 4 behind our materials, which is the relevant excerpt from the Board's previous decision that you justify your current USL charges on.  That's EB-2007-0681.  And I have excerpted the entire section, beginning at page 26 of that decision, that relates to unmetered scattered load.  And I'd just like to take you to that decision that you're relying on in the case.


So if we could start at page 27 of the decision at the bottom under the heading at the bottom, "Board findings."  The panel in that case conclude as reflected in this last paragraph on that page that:

"The dispute turns on other credits, not the metering credit but other credit, that Rogers is seeking and in particular an additional credit for USL connections that are physically located in urban areas and of credit for those connections that have a flat load."


Then continuing at the top of page 28, the panel decided as follows:

"Rogers attempted to estimate the amount of these credits in its argument.  As Rogers concedes, the data is limited.  The Board does not have proper information in this record to calculate potential cost reductions relating to these additional matters.  The Board is convinced that the best way to approach these additional issues is through the rate design process currently underway in the Board's initiative on rate design, and that is EB-2007-0031.  This review will consider the need for changes to distribution rate design in light of industry changes and emerging issues.  In the circumstances of this case, the Board accepts the USL rates and the USL credit proposed by Hydro One."


Mr. Roger, you're familiar with the rate design review process that the hearing panel in that previous case deferred Rogers' concerns to?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I am.


MR. MONDROW:  And you'll confirm for me, I hope, that the -- that review has been indefinitely deferred?


MR. ROGER:  I know there haven't been any meetings lately, but I haven't heard officially that it's been deferred.  I think I saw in your communication later on, in these exhibits, a letter that you received from Board Staff.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Let's go to that letter, then, and that's at tab 5 of our materials.  Following announcement by the Board of deferral of that proceeding, the rate -- distribution rate design review, Rogers pursued the matter of USL revenue to cost modelling with Board Staff.  And I've included in these materials Staff's letter in response to our request, and Staff's letter is dated December 1st, 2009, so just at the end of last year.



You've had a chance to review this letter between the time I provided it prior to the break and today?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I read it.


MR. MONDROW:  Great.  And if we could start at page 1, then, and the letter will reflect what Board Staff is responding to in its mind, and at paragraph 1, the second sentence, Board Staff states, "Specifically you", and that's a reference to me, to whom the letter is addressed:

"...requested the Board to direct all electricity distributors to establish a separate rate class for USL customers and to require all electricity distributors to complete cost allocation modelling in support of determining just and reasonable USL rates."

And the next paragraph goes on to apologize for the delay in responding, but reflects that, in part, that delay was due to a review of the status of distributors' progress in responding to the Board's determinations regarding USL rates, including bringing revenue-to-cost ratios within the bands identified in the Board's report on application of cost allocation for electricity distributors.


And then the next paragraph says:

"Our review and research indicates that most distributors have instituted the USL rate class or have separate charges for USL customers."

Now, Mr. Roger, you're in the second category.  That is, you have separate charges for US customers, but not a separate rate class; correct?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  But you'll agree that there are a fair number of distributors who treat USL rates as a distinct rate class in Ontario?

MR. ROGER:  Yes, there are.


MR. MONDROW:  And, presumably, based on those distributors' models and rate design principles, they treat USL customers differently, because USL customers have characteristics that distinguish them from the other customer groups that those distributors serve; would you agree with that?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I agree with that, but also there are distributors that actually meter every connection and bill USL based on metered --

MR. MONDROW:  So is it your evidence that every distributor in Ontario that has a separate USL class meters those customers?


MR. ROGER:  No.  My evidence is that there isn't a uniform approach across all distributors.


MR. MONDROW:  There are many --


MR. ROGER:  Some treat it as a separate customer class.  Some of them, like Hydro One does, have a credit to reflect the fact that there's no meter necessary.  But I know of a few distributors that actually meter every connection.  It's just to the point that you were trying to make that other distributors all treat it as a separate customer class.


MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Well, your point, as I understand it, is there are some instances in which -- well, they're not USL customers anymore if they're metered, but these sorts of loads are metered.


But you're also agreeing with me, I think, that there are many distributors in the province whose USL customers, unmetered scattered load customers, are treated as a distinct rate class based on their unique characteristics?


MR. ROGER:  That's a decision that the distributors made of treating them as a separate customer class.


MR. MONDROW:  And I think you're reflecting your understanding and your position that the Board's policy on USL allows either/or; that is, either treat them as a separate class or provide a credit to the fixed charge to reflect that these customers don't incur metering costs, and you've chosen the latter approach?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct, because that's the approach we've always treated unmetered scattered load.  They've never been a separate customer class.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, fair enough.  Could we turn to page 3 of Board Staff's letter, please, at the top of page 3?


I'm sorry, before we go to page 3, I'm looking at page 2 in the paragraph -- the second-last paragraph, which is headed, "Board's report on application of cost allocation for electricity distributors."  That paragraph discusses the 2007 Board report entitled "Application of Cost Allocation For Electricity Distributors".  It is that report that provides direction to distributors on the revenue-to-cost ratios for various customer classes; is that correct?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And the last sentence in that paragraph reflects the direction in that Board report that for both GS less than 50 kilowatt customers and for USL customers, the recommended cost-to-revenue ratio band is between 80 percent and 120 percent.  Is that your understanding?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, it is.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And recovering less than 80 percent of the costs to serve USL customers would be unfair to other ratepayers.  There would be an undue, in view of the Board's policy, subsidy from other ratepayers to USL customers; right?


MR. ROGER:  Right.


MR. MONDROW:  And recovering more than 120 percent of the cost to serve USL customers would, in turn, be unfair to USL customers, who would be overpaying for the services they receive; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  So do your USL charges recover less than or more than the bands set out in the Board's direction; do you know?


MR. ROGER:  We don't know.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So if we can go to the top of page 3 now, Ms. Hare, writing for Board Staff, tells me, in response to our inquiries on behalf of Rogers, that:

"Distributors undergoing a cost-of-service review are required to file the revenue-to-cost ratio for their USL class based on a cost allocation study.  The Board's decision on cost-of-service applications have included a requirement to adjust the revenue-to-cost ratio where applicable within the band of reasonableness either on the effective date of the rate change or over the course of the IRM plan term.  As a result of these initiatives, improvement has been made in setting just and reasonable rates for USL customers."

So, Mr. Roger, I take it that in your view Ms. Hare is wrong, and there's no requirement for you to file a revenue-to-cost ratio for your US -- for your USL customers in this cost-of-service proceeding?


MR. ROGER:  The way that I read the correspondence is Ms. Hare is referring to those utilities that have a separate customer class for USL.


MR. MONDROW:  And if you don't have a separate customer class for USL, you don't have to demonstrate the USL charges fall within that Board-directed band; is that your position?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.  The fact that the cost allocation model from the OEB has a calculation for a credit that should be applied to USL, to me, it means that is an acceptable way of dealing to develop cost-based rates for unmetered scattered load, that it doesn't necessarily have to be a separate customer class.


MR. MONDROW:  So how do you -- and I'll ask you this again.  How do you reassure this Panel that your USL charges are recovering the appropriate level of costs?


MR. ROGER:  The USL are part of the general service energy class, and the general service energy class revenue-to-cost ratios is within the Board guidelines.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  If we look at the second-last paragraph of Ms. Hare's letter, she says:

"I trust you find this information of assistance in clarifying the status of the implementation of the Board's cost allocation and rate design policies for USL customers.  Based on Staff research it appears these policies are being implemented through the various rate proceedings.  Your letter raises a number of concerns regarding Hydro One Networks Inc. and its charges for USL customers as a party to the current Hydro One Networks Inc. rate case on behalf of your client.  You are aware that the issues around the cost allocation and rate design, including the treatment of USL, is a matter in that proceeding.  It would be inappropriate for me to comment on a proceeding currently before the Board."

Mr. Roger, it seems to me that Ms. Hare has re-deferred the matter back to the Hearing Panel; would you agree with that?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Now, you do have distinct rate classes for streetlights and sentinel lights; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And you've produced revenue-to-cost ratios for these customers?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And your evidence in that respect can be found behind tab 9 of our compilation of materials, and that is Exhibit G1, schedule 1 in this proceeding.  And if we flip to page 3 of that exhibit, we see in the last we see in the last two columns before the total column on that table 1, the revenue-to-cost ratios for each of the streetlight and sentinel light rate classes, and in each case you're recovering 70 percent of the costs incurred to serve these customer groups, which is within the Board's directed band of reasonableness at this time.  Correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And what that means is, in each case, that is in the case of streetlights and sentinel lights, customers are paying 70 percent of the costs incurred to serve them; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Based on the cost allocation methodology, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And in each case for streetlights and sentinel lights, it's my understanding that the fixed charge for these customers is a dollar per account; is that right?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.  And we introduced that at the last proceeding as a nominal fixed charge.  Hydro One used to have only a volumetric charge, no fixed charges, and we when we looked at the other distributors, we found that almost all other distributors had some sort of fixed charge so we introduced some sort of nominal -- a dollar fixed charge for this connection.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, is it for each connection or each Account, in the case of sentinel lights and streetlights.


MR. ROGER:  In the case of sentinel lights, I believe each account is a connection.  In the case of streetlights, it's per account a dollar.


MR. MONDROW:  And in the case of streetlights, each account can have multiple connections.


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  In the case of USL customers, each connection is treated as a separate account; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And the fixed charge for each of those connections, we saw earlier, is $6.15; right?


MR. ROGER:  Could you please repeat the question?


MR. MONDROW:  The fixed charge for each USL connection, each of which is a separate account, is $6.15, or your target fixed charge is $6.15?


MR. ROGER:  That's a credit, that's not the charge.


MR. MONDROW:  Oh, I'm sorry, you're right.  The charge is even greater.  My mistake.


MR. ROGER:  The charge is the general service energy bill charge less the credit for unmetered scattered load.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And that number is $27.80; right?


MR. ROGER:  That was the target charge before we did any mitigation on phasing in the rates.


MR. MONDROW:  That will be the charge you get to, hopefully, in 2011, $27.80.


MR. ROGER:  That was based on the 2010 revenue requirement but we'd have to adjust for the 2011 revenue requirement.


MR. MONDROW:  It will be higher, then?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Does it cost 28 times more to service a USL connection than a streetlight account?


MR. ROGER:  I don't have the detailed information with me, but every time you have a customer group that is within another customer class, you might have winners and losers.  So it could be that we have also, within another customer class, the ST class, customers that don't cost us as much as other customers, but when you do grouping of customers you take the cost of supplying all the customers and you derive a common rate.


MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  But I'm here for Rogers, and so I'm asking you:  Does it cost 28 times more to serve Rogers, each connection that Rogers has, than it takes to serve a streetlight customer?


MR. ROGER:  I don't have the detailed information.


MR. MONDROW:  And indeed, without a revenue-to-cost ratio, you can't answer that question, can you?


MR. ROGER:  I cannot answer that question.  But we could have also customers within the ST class, let's say, car manufacturers saying they want to be treated as a separate customer class, and they would want me to also develop revenue-to-cost ratios for them.  We don't do that.  We treat every customer within the customer class and develop the appropriate revenue-to-cost ratios.


MR. MONDROW:  Can you turn to tab 10 of our examination materials, which is Rogers' interrogatory 2 from this proceeding, which is Exhibit H, tab 8, schedule 2.  And in part (b) of that interrogatory, we asked:
"Please explain the difference in distribution services provided to streetlights and sentinel lights on the one hand, and to USL customers on the other which explain the apparently significant difference in fixed charges."
I'm looking at your response B.  You say:
"The difference in the fixed charges for streetlight and sentinel light versus USL customers is due to the treatment of these classes in the cost allocation and rate design model.  The difference cannot be explained by differences or similarities in the distribution services provided."

I find that a remarkable statement from a cost allocation and rate design perspective.


Is that your position, that the reason you have different charges is because you have different charges and there's no relationship of those charges to the cost to serve?


MR. ROGER:  The difference that we have is related to one group of customers treated as a customer class, streetlights and sentinel lights, deriving the revenue-to-cost ratio for them as a class and the proper rates, while for USL they have never been, for Hydro One, a separate customer class, they've always had credit to the fixed charge and that's the process that we continue to do and it's an acceptable process based on the cost allocation methodology developed by the Ontario Energy Board.


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  Just one minute.


Now, Mr. Roger, just to conclude, then -- I appreciate your answers and I've asked you this before but I'll give you another chance just to make sure I don't miss anything.  If this Panel directed you to model a revenue-to-cost ratio for USL customers when you return for cost-of-service in 2011, and file that information as part of your application, is there any reason that you couldn't do that or any barrier that you see to doing that?


MR. ROGER:  No, we could do it like we did it for -- as part of the 2007 information filing.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much.


Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Is there a preferred -- sorry, Mr. Mondrow.  Is there a preferred next candidate?  Mr. Poch?


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I think I'm next up since I've got a relatively short cross and it's probably a bit different than the rest.  I should just first distribute some materials, Madam Chair.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, subject to any observations, the cross-examination materials from GEC for Panel 5 will be Exhibit K9.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K9.4: CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS FROM GEC FOR PANEL 5


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Poch, I'm aiming for a break at 10:30.  Can you work toward that?


MR. POCH:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  If you have to continue after the break, you can do that.


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Madam Chair, perhaps, did I just miss hearing the exhibit number for this.


MS. NOWINA:  K9.4, Mr. Poch.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Thank you.  This was distributed and filed before the holiday break.


Panel, my questions are pertaining to the CDM and the load forecast, and specifically to the merits of an LRAM in the current circumstances.  And I'd like to start with a little history.  In the -- in K9.4, at pages 2 and 3, we have reproduced the decision of the Board in EB-2007-0681, that portion of the decision dealing with load forecast issues.  On page 3 of the materials, which is page 8 of that decision, the Board said, and they're responding here to CCC's comments, that the Board endorses the comments made in the recent Toronto Hydro case, and I'll read it into the record for those who are listening:

"In a number of utility applications for rates in 2008, the specific effect of CDM activities on throughput has been impossible to quantify with any reasonable degree of accuracy.  This means that an important area of public policy supported by considerable funding through distribution delivery rates, as well as through direct OPA program funding under the global adjustment, is not measurable according to a consistent and well-understood methodology.  This lack of alignment between OPA forecasts and those generated by individual utilities also has implications for LRAM and SSM (shared-savings mechanism) claims and calculations.  LRAM and SSM claims are limited to the demonstrable effects on specific utilities' CDM programs on its throughput and revenue.  In other order to make this assessment, such effects must be empirically accounted for.  The effects of CDM activities that are not attributable to the specific utilities' actions must also be definitively accounted for.  Accordingly, the Board finds that effects of CDM activities not attributable to the company's actions must be accounted for and requires Hydro One to come forward in its next rate case with a detailed proposal to incorporate the impacts of CDM into its load  forecasts, both those attributable to its own actions and those not attributable to the company's actions."

And if we turn -- with that background, if we turn to page 10 of the materials I've provided you, in Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 11, reproduced there in the second paragraph, there is a reference to a study responding to the Board's directions in 07-0681.  And am I correct that that is indeed the company's response to the paragraphs I just read a moment ago?


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, going back to page 4 of the materials I've provided, this is another excerpt from that same decision with respect to the LRAM issue, and if you'll bear with me, I'll also read this one in.

"In its April 12, 2006 decision dealing with Hydro One's rates..."

And the number is provided there:

"...the Board directed Hydro One to produce a bottom-up forecast of CDM impacts and also propose an LRAM in its next rates case.  In response to the Board's directive, Hydro One's evidence in the current case was Hydro One has concerns with the practical difficulties and related accuracy of determining the actual amount of CDM savings achieved by its customers in a given year through the implementation of CDM initiatives from various sources, such as the Ontario Power Authority, provincial government and federal government.

"Hydro One believes it is prudent to wait for the OPA to develop measurement and verification programs for determining actual CDM achievements and, as such, is not proposing and requesting an LRAM at this time."

The -- so we have a situation, can we agree, where the Board had two cases ago asked you to do this LRAM?  In the last case, you explained why you were -- thought you were not in a position to do so; correct?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  And then in that last case the Board has said, We want you -- just as the Board in the Toronto Hydro case said, We want you to provide a study so that we have this information, this breakout of where the CDM is coming from, and you've now provided that study; correct?


MR. BUT:  Yes, we have provided that study.


MR. POCH:  But you have not in fact proposed an LRAM in this case?


MR. BUT:  That is correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.


MR. POCH:  Now, the Board -- and I just point out for you for the Board -- on page 5 of our materials, page 10 of the decision in the last case, the Board went on to make findings specifically with respect to LRAM, and I'll paraphrase.  The Board says, Okay, we accept your concern, your excuse, but next time we want you to overcome that problem.  Mr. But, can you confirm my paraphrase as your understanding?


MR. BUT:  That is correct.  However, I'd like to point out that at the present time we have the same concerns as the last time.  At the present time, we're still waiting for the OPA to come up with appropriate EMV results for LDCs.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, in the current case, and if you turn to page 6 of our materials where we've included H, tab 2, schedule 3, at item G of that exhibit, bottom of the page, you indicate that the CDM impact in the load forecast is consistent with the CDM forecast that was filed by the OPA in its IPSP filing, correct, and you've simply prorated it?


MR. BUT:  That is correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And you go on to indicate that, to the extent that you've got it wrong, that the sensitivity around that is -- in terms of revenue, is about $2 million per 100 gigawatt-hours that you're out either way; correct?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.  It's per year.


MR. POCH:  Per year?


MR. BUT:  Per year.


MR. POCH:  Yes.  At page 7 of our materials, which is Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 4, we've reproduced your numbers for CDM in the load forecast.  That's table 2 therein.  And I'm correct that these are cumulative values, if we -- that is, each value includes the impacts of the current year forecast for CDM, as well as -- or current year effects of CDM, as well as the effects from previous years; correct?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And turning over to page 8, for convenience I've reproduced the graphic version of the annual impacts that were produced -- that were provided in H7, schedule 31, and Mr. Curtis had confirmed in panel 1, I believe it was, that our depiction here agreed with -- was accurate and that the -- but that the pattern was quite unlikely to unfold as that.


Can you confirm that the load forecast assumes that CDM impacts will follow this pattern; that is, a jump by 550 gigawatt-hours in 2010, and then fall back by 445 gigawatt-hours in 2011?


MR. BUT:  Your numbers are correct.


MR. POCH:  Right.  And those numbers are correct both for your CDM forecasts and also for how the load forecast has captured CDM?


MR. BUT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And using the sensitivity you've provided that we spoke of a moment ago, then, if you're off by, say, 500 gigawatt-hours either because there's a delay in the ramp up or a decision that by the -- by yourselves or your shareholder not to see the drop-off, the sudden drop-off in CDM thereafter, the impact of a 500 gigawatt-hour shift would be about $10 million in rates in the year?


MR. BUT:  Your calculation is correct.


MR. POCH:  And I take it in the next year it would be $20 million, because in that first year you're only counting a half-year impact?  On average, CDM takes place half way through the year?


MR. BUT:  The assumption for the particular year is a full-year impact, not a half-year impact.


MR. POCH:  All right.  So it would be 10 million in the second year, plus whatever new impacts we have from new efforts or new --

MR. BUT:  That is correct.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  And this revenue impact would compound to the extent that you have compounding or offsetting errors?


MR. BUT:  Because the results are cumulative, therefore, that is correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And, in fact, here we are at the beginning of 2010.  You have some programs continuing, we heard.  You're really awaiting -- we also heard you're awaiting a target, a goal, to be imposed under the Green Energy Act, and you're awaiting further initiatives from OPA.  We heard that in the earlier panels.


So is it not reasonable at this point to assume that indeed the ramp-up will be delayed in 2010, at least?


MR. BUT:  Based on our analysis, we believe that the 2010 CDM impacts that we use is reasonable.  First of all, I would like to mention that the 2010 impact was already approved for the total impact in our transmission rate case last year and we are, in the distribution rate case, we are just using our Hydro One's share of the provincial total.


In 2010 in particular, I would like to mention that there are a lot of examples I can make to demonstrate that the analysis is reasonable.  For example, in 2010, there will be a lot of efficiency standards that will come in 2010 on a cumulative basis, starting in 2006.  So that would be contribute to significant savings in 2010 and beyond.


In 2010, we also have time-of-use rates starting to come into the picture.  We did a detailed study and we submitted that study in EB-2007-0086.  We estimated that with time-of-use rate coming into the scene, there will be significant saving that we would get from the customer.


In addition, of course, we would have the CDM programs that Hydro One will be implementing in 2010.  So all in all, so we believe that the 2010 estimate is appropriate.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Mr. Curtis agreed that the depiction, the pattern that we've depicted in our graphic here, is quite -- I think the words he agreed to was that it's quite unlikely.  Would you agree, Mr. But, that there's quite a band of uncertainty around this forecast in the next two years?


MR. BUT:  When you look at the picture that you depicted, I believe that maybe that is the reason why Mr. Curtis said it is significant.  I have to check this transcript to see exactly what he has said, whether it is unlikely or not.


But as I explained a moment ago, based on our analysis, we believe that the CDM impacts that we assume is quite reasonable for year 2010.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Now, just looking at the targeted numbers on the left of that page, the 2008, 121 gigawatt-hours in 2008, that was for the impacts of all programs, not just Hydro One-delivered programs; correct?


MR. BUT:  That is correct.


MR. POCH:  Because this is for the purpose of the load forecast.  Now, turn the report you did in response to the Board's direction, at page 9 of our materials, and if we drop down table 1 there, this is Exhibit H, tab 12, schedule 2, attachment 1, page 2, we see a figure for 2008 of 100 in the fourth, fifth column there.  Annual program savings, 118 gigawatt-hours for annual programs in 2008.  Again, that would be for all delivery entities; correct?  You can see that it sums the first -- the second through fourth columns?


MR. BUT:  Can you do the sum again?


MR. POCH:  I'm looking at the number 118 under annual program savings for 2008.  And it is -- it is the sum of Hydro One programs, OPA programs and federal and provincial government programs.


MR. BUT:  For 2008, that is correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.  So it's roughly comparable to the 121 that you've included in your load forecast?  That was in your -- rather, that was included in H7, 31, and we saw on the previous page in.


MR. BUT:  That is correct.  But however, I would like to point out that that is only the estimate that we used this methodology to account for the programs, and as we stated, we have used additional methodologies as we have demonstrated in this report, to show that there are additional impact.  For example, there are impacts resulted from customer conservation action, which we also estimated, and that is not represented in that 118 gigawatt-hours.


MR. POCH:  Right, there would be naturally occurring conservation, for example, that's in your load forecast.  This is program-driven conservation?  That's the distinction you're making?


MR. BUT:  The impact I just referred to is basically the effect in the same table, in table 1, the 170.  That is conservation action of our customer beyond natural conservations.


MR. POCH:  All right.  You'll have to explain that to me.  Conservation beyond natural...


MR. BUT:  Beyond natural conservation, as you just mentioned.  Those additional saving, real saving we are getting based on the analysis we did as we documented in this report.


MR. POCH:  So if it's not program-driven and it's not natural, I'm not sure what it is.  Can you help us?


MR. BUT:  There are basically non-program-driven conservation actions from our customer.  May I draw your attention to what we try to categorize in our report.

Basically in terms of CDM impact, we have program results from Hydro One, program results from OPA programs, program result from federal and provincial governments, as well as result from conservation action from our customers.


They are not necessarily program-specific, so that is the distinction I'm trying to make.  Some are program-specific; that is, easily measurable and traceable.  There are also results, actions, that we are getting from the customer that we can see in load forecasts that are not specifically related to a particular program.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  I had always labelled such things as "natural."  I don't know that they're natural, nothing is natural in this business, but natural conservation.  Have I missed some distinction you're making between natural conservation, that is, conservation that is not program-driven, and that figure of 170?


MR. BUT:  Well, I guess we have to draw a -- if you want to draw a distinction in term of what is natural and what is not natural.  If I say that in 2004, before -- or 2005 before we have CDM program, as we demonstrate or shown in our results when we did the CDM survey, say there are about say 50 percent of customer doing a particular conservation action, say using compact fluorescent bulbs.  But in 2009, with all these communication initiatives, communication material, there are a lot more people using, for example, I used the example for compact fluorescent bulbs again, that is a significant increase of customer adopting particular technology not necessarily driven by a particular program.  So it is therefore not accounted for in a particular program, but that represents saving in terms of the load forecast.


MR. POCH:  Fair enough.  It sounds to me like, for the sake of our discussion, that that 170 is an uptick, if you will, in natural conservation that you've identified in recent years; is that fair?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  So looking at the figure of 118 and comparing it to the figure of 121 that had been your assumption in the load forecast, your study has been able to sort out who did what within a couple of percent, retrospectively; correct?


MR. BUT:  Actually, our study, as you can see, actually demonstrate that our customer exceeded the saving assumption we assumed in the load forecast.


MR. POCH:  Right.  But just in terms of attribution to programs -- oh, I'm sorry.  All right.  So that the study retro -- you're comfortable, then, that the study retrospectively has been able to find conservation and do an analysis that's more -- with more accuracy than your forecast for 2008 of 121?


MR. BUT:  We are not saying that.  We are basically saying that our study demonstrate that the conservation saving from our customer, from program-specific result as well as non-program results, are likely to exceed the forecast that we assume in the load forecast.


MR. POCH:  Oh, I'm sorry, you're using the word conservation, and I'm again confusing program-driven and not.  Okay.


Your study has found 118 gigawatt-hours occurred in 2008 from program -- specifically from program-driven CDM, from CDM, which I'm saying is synonymous with program-driven conservation.  Fair enough?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And in your load forecast, you've used the figure for 2008, you used a figure of -- you assumed a figure of 121 gigawatt-hours, close to the 118; correct?  For CDM?


MR. BUT:  May I ask where can you get your 121?


MR. POCH:  That's on the previous page, page 8, which is reproduced from Exhibit H, tab 7, page 31.


MR. BUT:  Yes, I found that.


MR. POCH:  All right.


MR. BUT:  But I want to draw your attention to that -- if you go back to your page 7, under table 2, which shows that by 2008 our cumulative impact that we are showing in our load forecast is 432 gigawatt-hours.


MR. POCH:  Mm-hm.


MR. BUT:  And in your table on your page 9, table 1, the results that we have, if you add the cumulative impact for 2008, 270, 116, 253, and 170, we can come to about 820 gigawatt-hours.


MR. POCH:  All right.  You've lost me now, what point you're making.  Are you just simply saying that the annual numbers are consistent or are not consistent with the cumulative hours you've provided?


MR. BUT:  What I'm trying to say is the results we are showing in table 1 on a cumulative basis by 2008, we can see and account for result up to 820 gigawatt-hours, and that exceeds the CDM impact that we are showing in table 2 of your page 7 for 2008 of 432 gigawatt-hours.


MR. POCH:  Mm-hm, okay.  And which do you think is the more accurate number to assume?  Is the study, then, a more -- in your opinion, a more accurate reflection of what's happened?


MR. BUT:  Our study shows that we have a lot of results.  One of the reason why we are not using a higher number in our CDM estimate in the load forecast is because the results that we estimate from table 1 is -- a lot of that information, that results are not of EMV quality.  We have not got that information from OPA yet.  That is the reason why I mentioned earlier that we still have concerns about EMV information to be provided by the OPA.


MR. POCH:  And you're expecting that in the coming months, I take it?


MR. BUT:  At the present time, we have no indication from the OPA when we would get all the necessary EMV information for Hydro One and the other LDCs.


MR. POCH:  Now, the study you've done has provided a methodology for sorting out who's done what.  And what you're telling me is you still have some concern about the accuracy of the particular numbers because of this lack of evaluation from OPA; correct?


MR. BUT:  That is correct.


MR. POCH:  Are you comfortable with the methodology that your analysts provided you here?


MR. BUT:  We are comfortable with the methodology that we use, and we found that methodology to be appropriate.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  And is there reason to think that the numbers in this study are more or less accurate than the numbers you've used in your load forecast?  I understand that you've taken a conservative approach in load forecast, but in terms of accuracy, do you have any reason to think that these numbers are more or less reliable than the numbers you've selected?


MR. BUT:  Unless we receive all the necessary EMV information from the OPA, we will not be in a position to say that the information we provided in the table 1, as you have shown on page 9 of K9.4, to be more accurate or less accurate.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Now, on page 10 of my materials, you indicate that there's more work to be done on CDM, a forward-looking study.  We've talked about parts A, parts B, and so on.  I take it that forward-looking study is going to look at CDM potential?


MR. BUT:  Partly for that study we are getting opinion from consultant what type of CDM program Hydro One should consider implementing in 2010 and beyond.


MR. POCH:  All right.


MR. BUT:  And part (b) of that study provides additional information to what extent we can translate those program results into CDM impacts.


MR. POCH:  Into a load forecast?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  And what will part (b) do that the study you have provided in H12, schedule 2, attachment 1 -- what will part (b) do that this study hasn't done, other than, presumably, have more reliable numbers?


MR. BUT:  As we reply in the IR, as you provided on page 10, basically the last sentence, the consultant's study would provide additional information relevant to the methodology that we are using in terms of forecasting CDM impact.  That is the intent for that study.


MR. POCH:  All right.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Poch, would it be appropriate to take a break now?


MR. POCH:  Sure.  That would be fine, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's take a break for 15 minutes.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 10:30 a.m.


--- On resuming at 10:54 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  You can continue, Mr. Poch.


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Mr. But, let me make sure I understand where we are.  You've got, according to Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 4, page 8, which is at page 7 of my materials, you have just over 1600 gigawatt-hours of CDM cumulative impact in your load forecast in the second year of this application in 2011; correct?


MR. BUT:  Can you repeat your question, please?


MR. POCH:  You have just over 1600 gigawatt-hours -- I'm just talking about Hydro One retail -- of cumulative CDM impact built into your load forecast in the second year of this application, 2011.


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And with the sensitivity we spoke of before, roughly $2 million, that's had an impact on your revenue requirement that you're before this Board asking for of about $32 million in 2011.


MR. BUT:  That is correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.


MR. BUT:  However, I would like to add that based on our response to H1, 12, Board Staff question regarding the year-to-date accuracy of the load forecast and year-to-date load forecast, we are within 0.1 percent accuracy.  So therefore the risks of having a significant variance is not much.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  And so you're comfortable that you're able to forecast going forward CDM, you've just said that, I think.  And you've just -- a minute ago or a few minutes ago you indicated you were comfortable with the methodology for allocating who did what retrospectively.  And if I hear you correctly, can I summarize, then, you just have concerned that retrospectively you might not have the most accurate CDM figures until we have some evaluation protocol from OPA or wherever?


MR. BUT:  I did not said that.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Even better.  Are you aware that under the Green Energy Act that was passed earlier this year, there will now be a responsibility upon the energy commissioner to monitor CDM impacts?  CDM progress?


MR. BUT:  Can you repeat your question again?


MR. POCH:  environment commissioner.  I'm sorry.  Under the Green Energy Act legislation, the environment commissioner is now charged with making a report on conservation progress?


MR. BUT:  That is my assumption.


MR. POCH:  Right.  So we now have a situation, in contrast -- if we were to have an LRAM, we could presumably rely on the OPA and/or the environment commissioner to provide a third-party report on what the impact of CDM has been.  We don't need to import the infrastructure we have with the gas utilities of having to have a stakeholder committee and an auditor and so on?  Can we agree that we have that external, that third party that will be providing a report sooner or later?


MR. BUT:  I haven't seen any reports from the environmental commissioner so I cannot comment at this point in time.


MR. POCH:  My understanding from panel 1 is that even though you only have a million dollars in your budget for CDM, you're expecting that under the new regime, Hydro One will be the principal delivery agent for conservation, in your franchise area, although OPA may well be the designer of those programs.  Is that your understanding?


MR. BUT:  Hydro One will be a major contributor to delivering the CDM programs and the source of funding is going to be from the global adjustments.


MR. POCH:  Right.  If CDM -- whatever you have in the forecast, if you don't, to the extent you don't perform on CDM delivery, that's revenue to Hydro One, correct?


MR. BUT:  If that happens, then we will over-recover.


MR. POCH:  That's right.  And whatever you have in the load forecast, to the extent you do well on CDM, every extra bit of CDM effort that's productive that your company engages in hurts your bottom line.


MR. BUT:  In that instance, we will be under-recover.


MR. POCH:  Right.  So why would you object to a variance account that is simple to administer because it simply turns on the eventual report from an external entity, to true up your revenue and reduce that risk of revenue to revenue -- revenue shortfall to you and reduce the risk to the customers of overpayment?


MR. BUT:  At the present time, as I mentioned earlier, significant information gaps still exist, and that is the reason why we said it is inappropriate for us for LRAM in this rate case.


MR. POCH:  Now, we see that you are forecasting quite a volatile pattern in CDM -- we spoke of that earlier and we presented it graphically.  So despite the fact that your forecast has been tracking quite well, can we agree that  you're entering a new period now where there is or there are new risks to the forecasts coming from CDM, because of that anticipated volatility?


MR. BUT:  The CDM forecasts that we have used in the load forecasts is not something we adopted this year or last year.  It has been known to LDCs as well as OPA for a long time already that our first target for 1350 megawatts and the second target for 1350 megawatts will be delivered by 2010.  So OPA as well as LDCs know about the target and I submit that this is not new information.


MR. POCH:  It's not new information, but we're just about to enter the period where, all of a sudden, we're seeing big annual impacts from CDM.  And that's evident from the graphic pattern we saw before.


MR. BUT:  And this is the pattern that was established earlier and, and this is just a pattern that has been established.  So it is not something that is water-tight or not.


MR. POCH:  Exactly.  It's just a prediction that OPA made based on the targets it was handed by the minister.  And until now, that target hasn't materialized in -- to great extent in your forecast because it was -- OPA said it's all going to hit us in 2010.  Correct?  So we wouldn't -- answer that first.


MR. BUT:  Can you repeat your questions?


MR. POCH:  The largest part of OPA's forecast of conservation that you're embedding in your load forecast has been -- is going hit the load forecast in 2010 and subsequently?  We have not had a steady ramp-up in OPA's numbers, they were just building slowly.  And now you have incorporated a spike because that's what OPA has told you is coming?


MR. BUT:  Yes, it is correct that we are going expect significant impact in 2010 but I explained earlier given that we're going to have time-of-use rate and significant saving resulting from standards and efficiency improvement, we expect that this CDM portion we are putting in the load forecast is appropriate.


MR. POCH:  Right.  It's your best estimate, and you have some confidence in it, but let's be clear, there's a lot more change happening in 2010, far more change happening in 2010 and 11, than has been experienced to date?


MR. BUT:  Well, there are always going to be risks associated with forecasts, be it CDM estimate or the economy.


MR. POCH:  Yes, but can you answer my question?  We're seeing a lot more changed forecast for 2010 and '11 than we've had in recent years?


MR. BUT:  The CDM estimate we assume in 2010 is far more than in previous years, yes, I agree.


MR. POCH:  Sure.  So presumably there's a lot more -- there's some increase in uncertainty around it because of that?


MR. BUT:  I agree.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, faced with this big forecast jump in CDM impact, which has got a corresponding increase in revenue requirement because of the depressed load, if there is skepticism about it materializing on time that some of my colleagues might share, it seems to me there are a couple of responses that one could consider.


One is a variance account, which we've spoken about, and the other is simply to reduce the CDM load in the forecast.


And I just want to be clear:  If the Board were persuaded to do the latter, would it be correct that that would exacerbate this concern about a disincentive to engage in CDM that I've spoken of?


MR. BUT:  If that happened, then Hydro One -- if that happened and if Hydro One were to deliver the same level of CDM as we expect in the load forecast, then we would under-recover.


MR. POCH:  Right.  Okay.


Thank you.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  Have we determined who will go next?  Mr. Warren?  Go ahead, Mr. Warren.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  My questions, panel, deal entirely with the mitigation issue, so I take it, Mr. Roger, that's your bailiwick; is that right?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Roger, am I right in my understanding of your response to a question to your counsel in chief this morning that the mitigation measures which are reflected in K9.1 were achieved by shifting costs from the acquired to the legacy customers?  Is that a fair summary of what you've done?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Am I correct in my assumption, Mr. Roger, that you did not achieve mitigation by reducing your revenue requirement?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Did you consider that as an option?


MR. ROGER:  No.


MR. WARREN:  Am I correct in my understanding, Mr. Roger, that you did not achieve mitigation by reducing your -- the revenue from the increased return on equity?


MR. ROGER:  No.


MR. WARREN:  Was that considered as an option?


MR. ROGER:  No.


MR. WARREN:  I take it from that last answer that that was not put to either senior management or the board of directors as an option?


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  Mr. Roger would not be in a position to know that.  This has already been covered by Mr. Struthers.  Mr. Roger can answer about his mitigation efforts as the rate designer.


We had a high-level panel earlier on dealing with the board of directors.


MR. WARREN:  We didn't have a panel before dealing with mitigation, Mr. Roger.


MR. ROGERS:  We did, Madam Chair, with respect.  There were many questions put to previous panels about mitigation, about consideration of the board of directors, about the rate impacts.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers, I think it's fair for this panel to answer the questions to the best of their knowledge.  If they don't know, then they can say so.


MR. ROGERS:  Fair enough.


MR. WARREN:  I take it, to the best of your knowledge, then, Mr. Roger, this issue was not considered by the senior management or the board of directors, the specific question of whether or not to achieve mitigation by reducing the revenue from the increased return on equity; correct?


MR. ROGER:  I have no knowledge of that.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  Can you tell me, Mr. Roger, am I right that the mitigation measures were based on consideration of the distribution revenue impacts, only -- sorry, distribution costs only; is that fair?


MR. ROGER:  No.  It also included the transmission rate for what we call the regional transmission service rates, so the mitigation was looking at the delivery portion.


MR. WARREN:  Delivery portion of it, thank you.  Do I take it from that that the mitigation measures do not reflect any consideration of the commodity costs?

MR. ROGER:  Correct.  Based on Board guidelines, the impact of mitigation is assumed that other costs remain constant.


MR. WARREN:  And would the same answer obtain, Mr. Roger; that is, that mitigation was not based on considerations of the global adjustment or the externally-funded portion of the Green Energy costs or the so-called "special purpose fund" under section 79.1 of the act; is that correct?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And I take it, then, that it follows, Mr. Roger, that Hydro One did not consider the cumulative effect of all these factors when it was designing its mitigation measures; is that correct?


MR. ROGER:  At my level, I considered the Board guidelines and I looked at the rates that we are responsible for and developed the mitigation based on that.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Roger, over the course of the weekend, I advised your counsel that I would be asking you some questions based on chapter 13 of the 2006 Electricity Distribution Rate Handbook.  Do you have a copy of that document?


MR. ROGERS:  Do the witnesses have this?  I wasn't aware of it.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Board's report.


MR. ROGER:  I was not aware, but I happen to have a copy of chapter 13 of the 2006 Electricity Distribution Rate Handbook.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, we will call that Exhibit K9.5, and it is chapter 13 of the -- it's the EDR, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  The EDR report of the Board.

EXHIBIT NO. K9.5:  EDR REPORT OF BOARD, RP-2004-0188.


MR. WARREN:  RP-2004-0188.  Mr. Roger, it's said of Senator George Bush, Jr. that he carried around a copy of the American Constitution in his pocket.  I'm not sure he'd read it, but that's a different matter.


I take it that since you have it, you're familiar with the text of chapter 13 of the Board's report?


MR. ROGER:  What I have is chapter 13 of the 2006 Electricity Rate Distribution Handbook, not the Board report.


MR. WARREN:  Right.  Well, you've now been given a copy of the Board's report, chapter 13, and I am going to take you, sir, to page 89 of that document, to the last paragraph.  And I'll read it into the record, sir, and I'll give you, if you wish, certainly a moment to consider it.


It reads:

"The Board considers that the appropriate action level should be based on the total amount of the electricity bill (comprising commodity, distribution and regulatory charges) and that the threshold should be set at a 10 percent increase over the previous total bill.

"While the distributor can address only the distribution charges element of the bill, it is the raw effect of the increase as a whole that concerns the affected group or class of customers.  While the distributor may not be able to devise an equitable mitigation."


Have I read it correctly?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, you have.


MR. WARREN:  Now, my reading of that document, Mr. Roger, which I'm going to suggest, and ask you for comment on, is that the Board is directing you, in this case, to consider the effect of factors that are beyond just increases in distribution costs.  Is that fair?


MR. ROGER:  When I read the 2006 Electricity Distribution Rate Handbook, the Handbook itself, not the Board report, on chapter 13, page 130, it reads there that:

"The comparison between bills calculated using the proposed and the existing rates (including any Board-approved rate riders or adders) based upon the total 'delivery charge' component of the customer's bill (i.e. excluding the commodity component)."

MR. WARREN:  I'm asking you, sir, about the Board's report itself, the section I've just written -- I've just read to you.


Would you agree with me that what I've just read to you directs Hydro One, in considering mitigation measures, to look at the total bill effect including, among other things, commodity and regulatory charges?  Is that what it says?


MR. ROGER:  That's what the Board report says, but that's not what the Handbook says, and we follow the Handbook.


MR. WARREN:  And I take it, sir, that looking at the Board's report, the section I've just given to you, that you did not consider those other factors, the total bill effect, when you considered mitigation; right?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, can I ask you to take a look, sir, at Exhibit J4.4, which is the undertaking response which sets out the estimated impact on the revenue requirement and the distribution rates and the total bill of the increase in the ROE.


MR. ROGER:  J4.4; I have that.


MR. WARREN:  I'd also like you, if you can turn it up, Mr. Roger, the original notice of application and hearing in this matter.  Can you get a copy of that for him, please?


MR. ROGER:  Will you give me a moment, please.  I believe I have that.


MR. WARREN:  If you turn to page 2 of that document, please.  I just want to make sure in this exercise that follows, Mr. Roger, that I'm comparing apples and apples.


Top of page 2, it actually begins on the bottom of page -- sorry, that's not right.  Top of page 2 of the notice of application:

"Hydro One Networks Inc. indicates that if the application is approved as filed, an average customer would experience an increase on the delivery portion of their electricity bill of approximately 9.5 percent in 2010 and 13.3 percent in 2011."


Do you see that?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I do.


MR. WARREN:  And if I compare that to Exhibit J4.4, I take it that now an average customer would expect an increase on the delivery portion of the electricity bill of approximately 14.1 percent in 2010 and 11.6 Enersource 2011; is that correct?  Am I comparing apples and apples there?


MR. ROGER:  I thought there was another transcript undertaking, J.4.6, that was more appropriate, I believe, than J.4.4.



MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me what the numbers now are?


MR. ROGER:  The numbers now are 14.5 percent in 2010, and 11.5 percent in 2011.


MR. WARREN:  Now, the -- if I can turn to Exhibit K9.1 and just make sure that I understand what the numbers are telling me.  I'm look at page 1 of 3 of the attachments to K9.1, right at the top of the document.  I'm close to it, Mr. Roger.  And just if you could help me with what the numbers mean.


Let's take a look at what's identified as table 2 on that page.  Do you have that?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I do.


MR. WARREN:  And I'm going to look at the category seasonal, where it says:

"The bill impact will be 9.4 to 9.5 percent."


Now, does that represent an average, Mr. Roger?


MR. ROGER:  For seasonal we have two values because there are two ex-customer classes that are being harmonize, the R3 and the R4.


MR. WARREN:  Right.


MR. ROGER:  So the impact is on total bill, based on average consumption for the R3 class and for the R4 class.


MR. WARREN:  Would I be correct in understanding, Mr. Roger, that there will be some people in the seasonal class who will be experiencing bill impacts in excess of 10 percent?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, depending on consumption.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And is the same true, for example, for the category R2?  Are the numbers 5.8 to 6.7, is that an average in that category?


MR. ROGER:  Is 5.8 percent average for the R2 class, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And is it the case that some people in the R2 class will have a bill impact of in excess of 10 percent?


MR. ROGER:  Particularly if they have low consumption, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Because this is average impact on a thousand kilowatt-hours a year; is that right?


MR. ROGER:  Consistent with the Board guidelines, it's average impact based on average consumption by customer class.


MR. WARREN:  Let's then go down to table 4, which is immediately below it, and let's look at the community of Ailsa Craig, the residential category is 8.3 percent bill impact.  Now, is that an average?


MR. ROGER:  That's an average consumption, the impact on total bill, yes.


MR. WARREN:  But is the number itself an average?  8.3 percent isn't an average.  In other words, are there some people higher than 8.3 percent, some people who are below 8.3 percent?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  And would the same be true, for example, of Arcona and Arran-Elderslie?  I apologize if I've mispronounced that name.  All the members of this category are residential.  There are some higher, some lower, that's how you get to an average; correct?


MR. ROGERS:  I'm having trouble Mr. Warren, where do I find these?


MR. WARREN:  It's Exhibit K9.1.  Attachment 1, page 1 of 3.  It's right at the top of the document.


MR. ROGERS:  What's the name of the town, Madam Chair?  Maybe I misheard my friend.


MR. WARREN:  Ailsa Craig.


MR. ROGER:  All the impacts were done following Board guidelines, on chapter 13 of the Distribution Rate Handbook, based on average consumption.


MR. WARREN:  I had a different question.  It wasn't whether or not you followed the handbook, whether or not it was based on average consumption, whether or not these numbers themselves are average.


My level of mathematical knowledge ended in about grade 5, Mr. Roger, I'm sorry.  So when I look at an average, I assume that there are some numbers below 8.3, in the case of Ailsa Craig, and that there are some above 8.3.  That's how you get to an average.  Is that fair?


MR. ROGER:  The impacts here, we took -- we assumed the consumption being a thousand kilowatt-hours.


MR. WARREN:  Right.


MR. ROGER:  And then we determined the total bill impact.  So that reflects the 8.3 percent impact for Ailsa Craig.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry to ask it the last time, Mr. Roger, does it mean that there will be some people who will be having a bill impact of higher than 8.3 percent?


MR. ROGER:  Depending on the consumption, yes, there may be some people that have impacts higher and there may be impacts that are lower.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, returning, then, to the notice of application, which we referred to before.


I'm on page 2, fourth full paragraph, last sentence:

"Hydro One Networks Inc. has forecast that the revenue requirement increase sought will have a maximum impact of 10 percent on total bill in 2011 for average customers."


What's the number for 2010?  I don't see it in there anywhere, but I confess I may have missed it.


MR. ROGER:  Could you guide me where you're reading that, sorry, in the notice.


MR. WARREN:  Fourth full paragraph on page 2 of the notice of application.  The one that begins with the words "For 2011, the bill impact."  I'm just wondering why there isn't a comparable number for 2010.


MR. ROGER:  For 2010 also, the maximum bill impact, based on average consumption, will be 10 percent on total bill.  This is following the Board guidelines.

MR. WARREN:  I want to be precise about the wording of this, if I can.

"Hydro One Networks Inc. has forecast that the revenue requirement increase sought will have maximum impact of 10 percent on total bill for 2011 for average customers."

It doesn't say "average consumption," does it?  It says "average customers."


MR. ROGER:  The consumption that we've run the impacts are at a thousand kilowatt-hours, as the paragraph says there. At the top of the paragraph, it says "For residential customers consuming 1000 kilowatts per month."  And those are the impacts I'm referring to.


MR. WARREN:  Let me just take this in baby steps.  It says "average customers," not "average consumption," am I right?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.  And what we meant to say there is average customers is based on the average consumption.


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me where it is in here that average customers are defined as a person consuming a thousand kilowatt-hours a year?  Is the definition in this notice?


MR. ROGER:  I believe there was an interrogatory that asked us for the definition of what the average consumption was by customer class, and we provided that as part of a response to an interrogatory.


MR. WARREN:  I appreciate that, Mr. Roger.  My question is narrower and specific.  Can you tell me where in this notice of application the term "average customer" is defined?


MR. ROGER:  It's not defined here.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.


My final area of cross-examination -- or penultimate -


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, Mr. Warren, just so the record is clear, could I ask the witnesses, or through you?  The second full paragraph, where it's discussing the impacts in 2010, it says the range.  It says for residential customers consuming 1,000 kilowatt-hours per month.


And then for -- the next sentence says:

"For general service energy billed customers consuming 2,000 kilowatt-hours per month, the bill impact..."

So were those the averages that you used to determine your impacts?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.  It happens to be that for residential customers, the average consumption is 1,000 kilowatt-hours, and for general service energy billed class the average consumption is around 2,000 kilowatt-hours.


If we take the total consumption for the class divided by the number of customers, we get those values per month.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay, thank you.  Sorry, Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Roger, when -- if I'm a customer of Hydro One Networks and I get a bill from you -- let's assume for the purposes of this exercise that I'm not a customer of one of the retail operations.  The bill that comes to me, sir, does it break down the components of the charges I get?


For example, does it have a separate category for the commodity costs, the distribution component, the transmission component?  How is it broken down?


MR. ROGER:  Following government guidelines, the bill has four lines, the commodity, the delivery charges, regulatory charges and the retirement charge.  This is the format that all LDCs follow in their bills.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I take it from that, Mr. Roger, that there would be no -- or would there -- correct me if I am wrong.  On the bill of Hydro One Networks, they would there would be no indication of a rate adder for a smart meter charge, for example; correct?


MR. ROGER:  It's not explicitly shown on the bill; correct.


MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  And at least as things presently stand, there would be no item on the bill for the externally-funded component of the Green Energy Plan costs; is that fair?


MR. ROGER:  I don't believe that is in place yet.  It is still being determined.


MR. WARREN:  Is that being determined by Hydro One Networks?  Are you considering that, sir, putting that on as a separate item on the bill?


MR. ROGER:  Not that I'm aware of.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And would there, sir, I take it -- I know the answer to this question, but it has to be on the record.  I take it that in the bill as presently constituted, there is no item on there for a charge related to the so-called global adjustment; is that fair?


MR. ROGER:  The bill for retailers shows a separate line for provincial benefit global adjustment.  The bill for customers that are under the RPP plan does not show it, because it's included in the regulated price plan.


MR. WARREN:  Now, do I take it, Mr. Roger, that when the Board issues a decision in this application and there will, following that decision, be adjustments to the rates that are being charged by Hydro One, that some form of notice will be given to your customers about the increase; is that fair?


MR. ROGER:  That's fair.  Usually when the Board approves the final rate order, we communicate to the customers that this change in rates has been approved by the OEB, and this is the average impact.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And do you have a template now for the notice that you propose to give based on the Board's decision?  I mean, I appreciate that you can't fill in the numbers yet, but do you have a template for what that notice will consist of?


MR. ROGER:  I don't have it.


MR. WARREN:  And who is responsible within Hydro One Networks for developing the form and content of that notice?  Is it you or is it somebody else?


MR. ROGER:  It will be corporate communications, and I assist, and customer care is also involved.


MR. WARREN:  Now, there's a -- as you and I have discussed a moment ago, Mr. Roger, there is a difference between the -- what the average customer would experience in terms of delivery portion of their rates, a difference between what was in the notice of application and what's now being applied for as reflected in the J.4 and J -- J4.4 and J4.6 exhibits.


Will that difference be explained in the notice that's sent to parties -- sent to customers?


MR. ROGER:  Again, I don't know what the notice that we communicate with the customers will say.  I'm not involved with that yet.


MR. WARREN:  My final question is actually a follow-up, in terms of subject matter, from something Mr. Poch raised, and that's the question of time-of-use rates.


And time-of-use rates, am I to understand that some have been implemented already, or are they going to be implemented in 2010?


MR. BUT:  Perhaps I can help.  In terms of time-of-use rates, Hydro One is planning to implementing that starting in the process in the first quarter of 2010.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Can we agree, Mr. But, that time-of-use rates, for those folks who have chosen to adopt electricity for purposes of space heating, the time-of-use rates aren't going to help them very much, are they, at least with the space heating component of their bill; fair?


MR. BUT:  It more depends on their consumption pattern and their load shapes.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. But, can you and I agree that somebody who lives in Dryden and heats their house with space heating for electricity, that time-of-use rate isn't going to help them very much for the space heating component of their bill?  Is that not a reasonable conclusion for me to reach?


MR. BUT:  Again, I think there will be different situations that may apply, and I don't think we can conclusively saying that people with space -- electric space heating will be worse off.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What was that last word?  I'm sorry, Mr. But.


MR. BUT:  Conclusively.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Worse off?


MR. BUT:  Worse off.


MR. WARREN:  They may be cold, but no worse off; is that fair, Mr. But?  I don't mean to be facetious, but I'm asking a common-sense question, sir.  If you have to heat your house 24 hours a day, electric heat for space heat, there's not much help that time-of-use gives you.  Is that not a reasonable assumption on my part, sir?


MR. BUT:  Your assumption may be reasonable, but you also have to think about whether the space heating will be on 24 hours a day, though.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I'm just wondering, sir, as a follow-up to that, has any consideration been given to particular mitigative measures for the bill impact on those folks in the category I've talked about:  Colder climatic zones, space heating with electric heat?  Has any consideration, Mr. Roger, been given to some form of mitigation measures for those folks who, let's say for the purpose of argument, aren't going to benefit from time-of-use rates?


MR. ROGER:  No.


MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Who's next?  Mr. DeRose.

Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:


MR. DeROSE:  If that's fine with you, Madam Chair.


Good morning, panel.  My name is Vince DeRose.  I'm here on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


I just want to start off with one follow-up on a question that Mr. Poch asked you, and then, broadly speaking, I have two categories of questions.


The first deal with Hopper Foundry, who is a member of CME, and then the second category relate, broadly speaking, to the mitigation update that you've provided at K9.1.


But just to follow up on something that Mr. Poch was asking you, and if you can turn to his exhibit, it's K9.4, page 7.


Now, Mr. But, did I hear it correctly that for approximately every hundred gigawatt-hours of CDM represent approximately $2 million in revenue requirement?


MR. BUT:  On a per-year basis, that's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so, for instance, if we take 2011 -- I think Mr. Poch took you to that -- but that 1604 would represent approximately $32 million in revenue requirement?


MR. BUT:  That's correct, but that impact is relative to a base case without CDM impact that is starting from 2005.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay, and would that same math work for 2008, 2009, and 2010, so that if we wanted to just look at the revenue requirement impact at a high level -- I recognize it's an estimate -- for those years that 2008 would represent about 8 million, 2009 would represent about 12 million, and 2010 would represent about 26 million of revenue requirement?


MR. BUT:  The impact analysis is on revenue impact, but is not exactly as revenue requirement.  You used the term "revenue requirements."


MR. DeROSE:  I thought Mr. Poch was using the term revenue requirement this morning.  Does that $2 million not equate into revenue requirement?


MR. BUT:  This is the impact of having a higher or lower consumption from our customer respect to 100 gigawatt-hours and the impact is $2 million per year.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  In that case, could you either tell me now or by undertaking what a revenue impact of 2 million would translate into your revenue requirement impact, if it's different?


MR. BUT:  One moment, please.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BUT:  In terms of the incremental impact on revenue, it is the same.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. BUT:  But it is the terminology.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And that would be because the impact is dealing with the sufficiency or deficiency of the revenue requirement as opposed to the revenue requirement itself?


MR. BUT:  Exactly.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But in terms of -- well, I'll leave it there.  I think that's fine.  Thank you.


Let me turn to Hopper Foundry.  And if I could start at the exhibit that you filed this morning, K.9.2.  I suspect, Mr. Roger, these questions will be for you.


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  And these are the collection of e-mails that you filed.  Do you have those there?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, there are two e-mails.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I think there might be more than two, but -- first of all, who is Mark Boucher?


MR. ROGER:  He's an account executive that deals directly with Mr. Vickers of Hopper Foundry.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  And if I could turn you to the second page, this is, at the top it says "Summary of findings:  October 14, 2009."  And then under the subheading "Findings," the second bullet says:

"Forced Jefferson distribution station feeder F2 current balance before any load shift is currently above acceptable levels and needs to be rectified by Hydro One."


Can you explain, I guess in layman terms what that means?


MR. ROGER:  I'm not sure I can, but I can tell you that we undertook the process to be able to balance the feeder.  It probably is that the load may not be within acceptable levels but the work order was issued, and that feeder will be rebalanced before March 1, 2010.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And that rebalancing exercise by Hydro One is not being caused directly by Hopper Foundry; is that right?


MR. ROGER:  No, but that was detected when we did that monitoring back in the summer.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But Hopper Foundry is not the cause for you having to take at that action?  You would have had to do it whether Hopper Foundry existed or not?


MR. ROGER:  I don't know a hundred percent, sorry.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Secondly -- or the fourth bullet says:

"The total harmonic distortion at Hopper Foundry during peak conditions appears to exceed is IEEE-519 limit of 5 percent."


Can you explain -- well, can you explain to the Board what it means to exceed total harmonic distortion?


MR. ROGER:  I think it refers to the power quality.  And I think if you go to the recommendations on that report at the end, we were trying to say there that if we get complaints with respect to disturbances from other customers, then we have to address the issue of power quality.  That's what we're trying to say there.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And then if we go to the bottom, the conditions of service, and it's the second sentence.  It says:

"Although Hopper Foundry's connection does not meet this Condition of Service, the arrangement pre-dates Hopper Foundry becoming a customer of Hydro One Networks and as such is considered as grandfathered."


If Hopper Foundry were to shift from their current operation -- from their current nighttime operation to daytime operation, would they lose that grandfathered status?  Is that affected at all by the fact that they have been operating for the past 20 years or so on a time-of-use nighttime basis?


MR. ROGER:  No, they would not lose the grandfathered.  I think the issue of the grandfathered here is that that type of load of 700 kilowatts, under the condition of services, right now is supplied at voltages above what Hopper is getting right now.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And would -- okay.  That's fine.


Now, just if I can take you to the next page on the recommendations.  And it's the third bullet that I want to ask you about.  It says:

"If complaints with respect to disturbances are received from other customers and are found to be attributed to Hopper Foundry and above accepted levels, then Hopper will be asked to take corrective actions as indicated in section 2.3.3 of the electrical disturbances of Hydro One's conditions of service."


I take it if that happens, that whatever corrective action Hopper Foundry needs to take, that would be paid for by Hopper Foundry, not by Hydro One?  Is that a fair assumption?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, it is.


MR. DeROSE:  And so moving to daytime, this would be one of the risks that Hopper would face, the possibility of having to take corrective action?


MR. ROGER:  If there are disturbances that are monitored on other customers, correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And I take it that at this time, Hydro One is not able to provide any type of assurance that disturbances would not occur?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.  And if we go to the second string of e-mails, I think on point number 3, we say we would like to work with the customer to monitor that.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  This is the next page.  This is the e-mail from Mr. Boucher to Mr. Vickers, dated November 26, 2009.  Is that right?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And so that's the paragraph that starts:
"It is possible that shifting load to daytime operations may cause problems for other customers."


MR. ROGER:  That's the paragraph I was referring to, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so, again, that risk exists, and if Hopper moves to daytime operations, that's the risk that falls on Hopper; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.  But it could be that if we monitor, there may not be any problems with the power quality, and that nothing needs to be done.


MR. DeROSE:  Right.  You don't know one way or the other until you do that monitoring.


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Now, when do you anticipate that time-of-use rates will be available for customers in the Forest distribution area?


MR. ROGER:  I don't have that information, but time-of-use rates being implemented would affect only the commodity portion of the bill.  What we're talking here in the case of Hopper is the distribution component of the bill that is not time-differentiated.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, thank you for that.


Now, just moving away from the exhibits that you filed, when I go through the material, I've identified four possible -- I guess four alternatives in terms of the rates that could be -- that this Board could approve for Hopper this year.


I just want to run them by you at a high level first, see if we agree that these are the range of possibilities, and then we'll get into them in a little more detail.


The first is this.  The Board could approve the continuation of the existing interim time-of-use rate that they approved in 2009 that is currently in existence.  That's one option; correct?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And did I understand your direct examination this morning that so long as you are permitted to recover the $60,000 that you've identified as revenue loss, you have no objection to continuing on that basis?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And just to confirm, for 2009, so the existing status quo, you recovered that loss; correct?


MR. ROGER:  We recovered that as part of the CDM funding, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  For 2009, this past year?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, the second possibility that the Board could approve is what you have described in your evidence at Exhibit G1, tab 9, schedule 1 as the "alternative", and that is to treat Hopper Foundry in the same manner as you treat embedded distributors being supplied below 13.8 kV as are treated in the ST class.


MR. ROGER:  That is correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And as I understand it, this alternative approach could be implemented in one of two ways.  You could implement it on a time-of-use basis or on a non time-of-use basis; correct?


MR. ROGER:  In theory, yes, but the ST class right now does not -- doesn't have a time-of-use component for a distribution bill.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the reason I ask that is because -- and I'll take you there in a moment, but Hydro One provided a number of spreadsheets setting out different scenarios to Mr. Vickers, and you provided -- you addressed both of those scenarios, both the ST class at time-of-use and ST class at non time-of-use.


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the fourth alternative, if we consider that there's two subs within the alternative, is to revert back to the approach that the Board rejected last year, which is to simply -- that Hopper could be served under one of the non-ST customer classes on a non time-of-use basis.  That's the fourth option; is that correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.  It would be under the general service demand rate applicable to Forest customers.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, could I take you to Exhibit K7.5?  This is a document called "Hopper Foundry Documents."  Do you have that?


MR. ROGER:  Give me a moment, please.  Yes, I have that.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And if I can take you to tab 5?


MR. ROGER:  Sorry, I have photocopies.  I don't have tabs.


MR. DeROSE:  Oh, these are the three spreadsheets that -- sorry, four spreadsheets.  At the bottom they -- at the top, they would say "Hopper Foundry, Forest, Ontario".  Do you have the spreadsheets?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I do.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, first of all, these spreadsheets were prepared by Hydro One; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct, by my staff and myself.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And Mr. Vickers did take the Board through these, but I just want to ensure that Mr. Vickers' interpretation of what these spreadsheets mean is the same interpretation that you have, since you and your staff prepared them.


The first that I have in my set on the bottom right-hand corner has a negative 5.7 percent.  Unfortunately, they aren't numbered, so...


Do you see the negative 5.7 percent?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I do.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I just want to make sure that if we -- just looking at the bottom column that says "Total Bill", the first number we see is 44,709.  That number is the existing time of -- the interim time-of-use rates for 2009; is that right?  That's what Mr. -- that's what the Hopper Foundry is being served on currently?


MR. ROGER:  It's based on their average consumption between September '07 to August 2008.


MR. DeROSE:  Mm-hm.


MR. ROGER:  Applied the currently-approved rates.


MR. DeROSE:  And then, if we move over, we see the 44,393.  What number is that?


MR. ROGER:  If we move Forest to the proposed 2010 general service demand rate for Forest, continuing under a time-of-use component for the distribution bill.


MR. DeROSE:  Right.  And then if we move over further to the right, we see a 42,160.  What does that number represent?


MR. ROGER:  That number represents that if we move Hopper and the other 13 customers now to qualify for the ST class, and they're allowed to maintain a time-of-use component for the distribution bill --


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  -- then the bill would be lower than what they're paying right now.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, thank you.  Now, can I turn you to the next spreadsheet?  This spreadsheet, just to make sure we're on the same page, again, bottom right-hand corner, you'll see 22.3 percent.  Are we on the same --


MR. ROGER:  Right.


MR. DeROSE:  -- page?  Okay.  The 44,623, again, that is the existing time-of-use rate; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, based on the consumption I mentioned earlier.


MR. DeROSE:  Now, can you explain to me why -- and it's not a big difference, but the number 44,623 is different than on the previous spreadsheet, which is 44,709.  I know we aren't talking a lot of money, but I thought that's on the same assumptions, and you're coming up with a different number.


Are there different assumptions that I have failed to identify?


MR. ROGER:  There shouldn't be.  I would have to look at the numbers and see, but, for all intents and purposes, the numbers should be similar.


MR. DeROSE:  Yeah, okay.  We're talking less that $100, so please don't do that.


And, again, if you can just explain to us, what does the 54,563 represent?


MR. ROGER:  If Hopper is allowed to become part of the ST class with a non time-of-use component, meaning the same as all other customers are being billed, then their bill would go up by 22.3 percent.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, if the Board were to approve that alternative - it's 22.3 percent - would that be a situation where you would consider or where you would feel that you should consider possible mitigation, given that it is exceeding 10 percent; it's up around 22 percent?


MR. ROGER:  We could consider it, but we don't do mitigations on a customer-by-customer basis.  The mitigation that we've done was based on average consumption.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  But the other thing to remember is that if we allow Hopper and the other 13 customers to move over to the ST class, we would have a $1 million shortfall in revenues from those customers that would need to be recovered from somebody else.


MR. DeROSE:  So the alternative would result in a $1-million shortfall, whereas if we maintain the current status quo, it would be a $60,000 shortfall; is that right?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Then if I can take you to the next spreadsheet, this at the bottom has 32.7 percent.  Are we on the same page again?  Bottom right-hand corner, you'll see "32.7 percent."


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I see that.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And again, we have the 44,709.  That's the existing rate.


Then we go up to 113,059.  What does that number represent?


MR. ROGER:  That would represent for -- if Hopper is being billed at the general service demand billed for forest without any time-of-use component.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And that's the 152 percent increase, correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you very much for that.  Now I'm going turn away from Hopper Foundry, so you can put that away.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeRose, before you continue.  We're look for break by 12:15.  So maybe we can take that into account?


MR. DeROSE:  I'm in your hands.  I'm certainly not going to be finished by 12:15, so I can either go to 12:15 or I can stop now, whatever your preference is.


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't you go to around 12:15 and find a reasonable spot to stop.


MR. DeROSE:  That's fine.  Now, first of all, this morning in your direct, if I understood you correctly, Mr. Roger, you said that before or prior to the update for cost of capital, your mitigation represented about 300,000, and it has now gone to 1.9 million.  Did I hear that correctly?  Or did I understand it correctly?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.  That's the mitigation for 2010 being provided by legacy customers to acquired customers as a result of the harmonization process.  This is the third step of the harmonization process.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And that increase from 300,000 to 1.9 million, does that -- how does that affect your current harmonization process?  Does it extend the time period at all or does it simply just shift, a larger shift in a single year?


MR. ROGER:  This shift is only for 2010.  If the revenue requirement is approved as submitted, with the updated cost of capital for 2010 and 2011, we might need an extra year to harmonize the rate for a few acquired LDC customers to be able to keep their bill impact in 2011 at a maximum of 10 percent on total bill, based on average consumption.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And just, just so that I understand it, under the original mitigation plan, that mitigation should have -- 2010 should have been the last year?


MR. ROGER:  Under the original revenue requirement before the cost of capital --


MR. DeROSE:  Correct.


MR. ROGER: -- we still would have had three acquired LDCs that we would have needed another additional year to harmonize the rates --


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. ROGER: -- to be able to maintain their -- in 2011, their total bill impact at 10 percent or below.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And now, after the cost of capital, how many do you have?  Is it more than three?


MR. ROGER:  If I can have a moment, please?


MR. DeROSE:  Absolutely.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. ROGER:  12 acquired general service energy bill customer classes in acquired LDCs, one residential acquired LDC, and for the seasonal customers we may need an additional year.


Again, this is maintaining the impact at 10 percent on total bill based on average consumption.


MR. DeROSE:  And those numbers that you've just given me, that's for 2011?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I take it that -- or would you anticipate that some of those would go into 2012?  Or is that too far to predict?


MR. ROGER:  By 2012 we would be able to harmonize.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  That's my guess.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, am I right when I reviewed the material that you filed in K9.1, my interpretation is that you took your existing mitigation plan for the rate harmonization and simply folded the additional revenue requirement arising from cost of capital into that mitigation plan, and that you did not consider whether you needed a new mitigation plan.  Is that fair?


MR. ROGER:  When we reran the numbers, what happened is that the legacy customers are providing more mitigation than before to the acquired customers in 2010.  And in 2011, there are more LDCs now that we won't be able to harmonize if we want to maintain their impacts at 10 percent or below on total bill.


MR. DeROSE:  Let me rephrase the question.  When your original mitigation rate harmonization plan was approved, there was detailed evidence on it.  I believe you were a witness, and it was highly scrutinized; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And you took a lot of time and Hydro One took a lot of time in that case to consider what is the most appropriate manner to mitigate the rate harmonization; is that fair?


MR. ROGER:  That's fair.  And this is the same mitigation we're providing now from legacy customers to acquired customers that were approved by the Board and were provided by 2008 and 2009.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I guess my point is you've just simply run the numbers.  You didn't -- did you ask yourself whether the existing mitigation plan is or is not appropriate, in light of the increased cost of capital; or did you just simply run the numbers on the existing mitigation plan?


MR. ROGER:  We ran the numbers and we tested those numbers against the Board guidelines of maximum bill impact of 10 percent on total bill based on average consumption.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, when you were running those numbers, did you consider the fact or take into consideration the fact that your customers will also need to pay some of the externally funded Green Energy Act costs?  Was that taken into consideration at all?


MR. ROGER:  No.


MR. DeROSE:  Why not?


MR. ROGER:  We don't know how much that's going to be, for one.  And the second reason is the Board guidelines, as I discussed earlier, talk about the delivery portion of the bill and talk about impacts based on average consumption, a maximum of 10 percent on total bill, with commodity costs remaining constant.


MR. DeROSE:  Yeah.  Now, the Board guidelines that you keep referring to, can we agree that the externally funded Green Energy Act costs didn't exist at the time that that Handbook was approved?


MR. ROGER:  Did not exist, correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And in your view, if circumstances change, is it appropriate for Hydro One to exercise its judgment and make a determination of whether it should consider costs not included in the Handbook?


MR. ROGER:  We will follow any Board guidelines that are issued, if they are revised as a result of that having now a new charge.  But at this stage, the Board guidelines are the ones that we are following.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay, so if the Board guidelines don't tell you to do something, you won't -- you won't do it.  Is that fair?


MR. ROGER:  We've tried to follow the guidelines as much as possible, correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, again, just going back to your direct examination this morning, if I can...


What you described was that you compared the originally-filed requirement with the revised post-cost of capital revenue requirement in J4.6, and you took that 4.4 percent, and then you applied that 4.4 percent.  Did I understand that right?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.  We applied that 4.4 percent to the filed basic distribution rates.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And when you ran your original evidence that you were updating, is that the manner in which you calculated each of those rates, that you took the approved revenue requirement for 2008 and looked at what -- the increase that you were applying for, and that's how you did it?


MR. ROGER:  No.  What we did is we run a cost allocation model to allocate the revenue requirement to the various customer classes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I take it you weren't able to do that over Christmas.  That's why you used the 4.4 percent?


MR. ROGER:  The methodology that was used to derive the 4.4 percent was the same methodology we used when we implemented the 2008 distribution rates.  Once the Board came out with a decision and approved a revenue requirement in 2008 that was slightly lower than what we had asked for, we took the ratio of what the Board approved versus what we had originally submitted, and applied that percentage or that reduction to all the proposed basic distribution rates.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And would you anticipate -- and I'm just trying to understand if -- when you change the methodologies -- applying a percentage I guess in a sense as a proxy, is that going come up with or, potentially, could that come up with different numbers than if you ran the cost allocation?


MR. ROGER:  I don't expect it to come up with substantially different numbers, because the change for the cost of capital goes into US of A for net income and is allocated proportionally to all customer classes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And would you be able to provide a plus or minus variance that you think you would be comfortable with?  Are we talking plus or minus 1 percent or plus or minus 10 percent?


MR. ROGER:  My guess is there's not going to be a major impact, given also that our revenue-to-cost ratio that we are proposing are within the Board guidelines and there is a wide range in the revenue-to-cost ratios.  So we probably, very likely, will be still within the Board guidelines.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Fair enough.


Now, Madam Chair, I'm about to move into some more detailed questions on K9.1.  Now is probably is appropriate time to stop.


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we do that?  And we're going to take a little bit longer break today.  We'll break until 1:30.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:07 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:32 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Mr. DeRose, you can go ahead.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Panel, if I could have you have before you volume 3 of the transcript from this hearing.  And specifically, if you can turn to page 81.


MR. ROGER:  Page 81 of volume 3; I think we have that.


MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  Thank you.  And you'll see at line 14 Mr. Warren is asking a question with respect to Exhibit H, 9, 44.  Now, that's a confidential exhibit, and just to avoid having to go into any in camera, I thought it would be easier if I simply ask my question based -- following up on a question that Mr. Warren asked here.  This is in the public record.


And so what Mr. Warren then at the bottom, starting at line 21, reads a paragraph from that exhibit that says as follows:

"Recognizing that the OEB, Hydro One, and other industry players have limited resources, the company has also identified to the OEB a number of opportunities to defer..."

-- and then he has the wrong word there, he goes on --
"..defer other lower priority initiatives in favour of the Green Energy initiatives, OEB initiatives that Hydro One propose the OEB should defer include the requirement to eliminate long-term load transfers, the development of new distribution rate design, and the development of new filing requirements."


Then if you move down on page 82, you'll see Mr. Van Dusen, starting at line 19, defers the development of new distribution rate design to this panel, and he says:

"The development of new distribution rate design, you will hear more from panel 5 on the distribution rate design and the distribution cost allocation process that the company went through."


I have reviewed the evidence filed in this application.  I was unable to identify any initiatives that have been identified as lower priority initiatives that have been deferred in the rate designing area.  Can you explain what Mr. Van Dusen was referring to?


MR. ROGER:  I'm not sure I can.  Would it be possible to come back after the break, and I can confer with Mr. Van Dusen?  I don't know what he was referring to.


MR. DeROSE:  I have no problem with that or if you prefer, you can go by way of undertaking.


MR. ROGERS:  I don't understand the question.  I understand the question but not in the context of what was said there.  What was said there, Madam Chair, seems to be fairly clear to me, that they suggested among other things that the rate design and distribution initiative be deferred in view of the Green Energy requirements.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, panel, what is the new distribution rate design that you were developing that's being deferred?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, Madam Chair, as I understand what Mr. Van Dusen said, the Board has a process underway for cost allocation and rate design.  Apparently Hydro One or someone from Hydro One suggested to Board Staff or to the Board that that might be one of many things that might be deferred, pending because of the Green Energy initiative.


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Roger -- well, there's two Mr. Rogers, but panel member, do you agree?  Is that what is being referred to here?  I'm...


MR. ROGER:  It sounds reasonable to me.


MR. DeROSE:  That doesn't cause me a lot of confidence.  Perhaps we could just have an undertaking to confirm, we just simply want 20 know what is being referred to as the development of new distribution rate design.  If it is the Board initiative process, then that's what it is, but if it's something that Hydro One was internally working on, I'd simply like to know.


MR. ROGERS:  No, I'm instructed that that isn't what it is.


MS. NOWINA:  To be clear, it was referred to this panel in this statement.


MR. ROGERS:  I'll undertake whatever you wish.  I don't think that particular -- that statement, I thought, was fairly clear, but maybe I'm missing something here, so if there's an undertaking I'll give it.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeRose, I'll hand it back to you.  But I'm looking at that sentence where it says, "You will hear more from panel 5," and I'm wondering if that was the basis of your question.


MR. DeROSE:  I can say that was the basis of my question because I quite frankly assume that if it was now merely what is being described Mr. Mr. Van Dusen would have said that at that time.  The fact that he has an entire paragraph - well, not a paragraph, a sentence where he says you're going to hear more about that from panel 5, I couldn't find any evidence that has identified that and panel 5 hasn't addressed it.  So if there's something more to it, I'd like to know it.  If it's simply now what's being said, then it's a non-issue, I can move on.


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe if it's a simple clarification, it would be best to get that from a witness so we can -- if we can get it as an undertaking or something to that effect, that would be good.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  It's Undertaking J9.1, and it is to clarify Mr. Van Dusen's statement which is quoted by Mr. Warren at pages 81 and 82 of transcript volume 3.


MR. DeROSE:  I think it's probably easier if we clarified it if it's to clarify Mr. Van Dusen's comment at page 82, starting at line 18.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay. Thank you.

UNDERTAKING No. J9.1:  TO CLARIFY MR. VAN DUSEN'S COMMENT AT TRANSCRIPT VOLUME 3, PAGE 82, STARTING AT LINE 18


MR. DeROSE:  Now, panel, if I could have you turn to Exhibit K.9, line 1, page 1 of 3.  And sorry, it's attachment 1, page 1 of 3.  Do you have that, Mr. Roger?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.  Can I take this opportunity to clarify to a response that I gave you earlier this morning?


You asked me about two numbers that were in the Exhibit K7.5, the Hopper spreadsheets.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  And the two numbers were off by around $100.


MR. DeROSE:  Yeah.


MR. ROGER:  And at that time I said that numbers should be the same.  Actually, the spreadsheets are correct.  The spreadsheet that has a 5.7 percent bracket impact, negative.  The reason is based on the proposed 2010 distribution rates, meaning that we would have had already the approved 2009 rates.  So in this particular example, we're using the actual approved 2009 rates.


MR. DeROSE:  Ah.  Thank you very much.


MR. ROGERS:  In the spreadsheet that has the 22.3 percent impact, we were using at that time the proposed 2009 rates.  So the difference is the 22.3 percent increase was based on 2009 rates, which at that time were proposed under EB-2008-0187, while the ones that are titled "Proposed 2010 rates," by at that time we would have the final 2009 rates.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, thank you for that.


These were all, as I understand it, prepared at the same time, were they not?  These -- all these spreadsheets?


MR. ROGER:  No, they were not.  Because at the time when we prepared the ones that were the proposed 2009 rate, we would not have had the final 2009 rates.  They all happened to be printed at the same time.  But they were prepared, they --


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.


MR. ROGER:  -- before they were approved.


MR. DeROSE:  All right.  I see that.  Well, thank you for that clarification.


Now if I can have you turn to Exhibit K9 -- sorry, K9.1, attachment 1, page 1 of 3.


MR. ROGER:  I have that.


MR. DeROSE:  And I'd like to start by discussing table 2.  Now, I've gone back to Exhibit G1 -- I don't think you need to turn this up, but Exhibit G1, tab 8, schedule 1, page 4 of 14, where you have the original table 2.  And the increases, if we compare the increases, so for instance if we take R1, the original bill impact percentage was 2.8.  We now have it at 4.6.  Is that increase caused entirely by the update for cost of capital, or are there other drivers for that increase?


MR. ROGER:  The other driver would have been the additional mitigation that the R1 customers are providing to the acquired customers.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so it would be the increased mitigation and the ROE, and those would be the only a two drivers for the increase?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, panel, by way of undertaking, would you be able to provide to the Board table 2, but update it so you have one column which shows the original as filed or pre cost of capital, update bill percentages for each of those customer classes, and then a second column which shows the post cost of capital updates, so that the Board has in one place the ability to see the impact of mitigation in ROE?


MR. ROGERS:  If I understand correctly, it's just repeating the two tables in one document?


MR. DeROSE:  Correct, so that the Board doesn't have to go to two different documents and compare them, because -- to make it easier for this Panel.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, if it would be helpful, we'll undertake to do that.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.


MR. MILLAR:  J9.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.2:  PREPARE CONSOLIDATED TABLE REFLECTING MITIGATION OF ROE.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, panel, if I can have you turn to G1, tab 8, schedule 1, page 2 of 14?


And, Mr. Roger, on table 1 you show your 2010 distribution rates.  Those rates would be affected by the update in cost of capital, would they not?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  And is there a reason why you didn't update table 1?


MR. ROGER:  Because those are not the rates that we are proposing.  What we're showing in table 1 -- G1, tab 8, table 1 are the rate before mitigation, the target volumetric charge and the target fixed service charge, which means the rates that we would implement, if it was implemented, everything in one year, not in two-year step.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so is there an equivalent of this table that shows the 2010 distribution rates that you are proposing?


MR. ROGER:  They're all included in the rate schedules as part of Exhibit K9.1.  They are not in a table format like the one shown in here, but that's an update that we did to all of the rate schedules.


MR. DeROSE:  Right.  Well, without going to every single rate schedule -- well, I guess let me put it this way.  Is there a reason why you would not provide a summary table like this showing the updated distribution rates that you are proposing, other than literally going through every single rate schedule, which is -- can be time-consuming?


MR. ROGER:  If the Board requires it, we can do it.


MR. DeROSE:  Would it be difficult for you to do?

MR. ROGER:  I don't believe so.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  It would certainly be of assistance to us to have a single table that shows all the rate increases in a single place.  Unless the Board feels that it would not be of assistance, we would ask that an undertaking be given for that.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's do it.


MR. MILLAR:  J9.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.3:  PROVIDE TABLE SIMILAR TO G1, TAB 8, TABLE 1 REFLECTING 2010 PROPOSED RATES.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.  And then, panel, if I can have you still staying with G1, tab 8, schedule 1, page 6 of 14, Again, this is one of the tables that I don't believe you updated.  Is there a reason why you didn't update this table?


MR. ROGER:  It's the same reason that -- the impact of the applicable cost of capital and the mitigation is reflected in the rate schedule.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay, fair enough.  I won't ask you to update that one.  Thank you.


Now, panel, Mr. Warren was asking you a number of questions this morning about what is and what is not included in your assessment of both distribution rate increase impacts and total bill impacts, and I'm wondering if you would be able to provide the following information, which would help us understand both how you do that and also how customers can see it.


And it's this:  First of all, if you could provide copies of an average residential bill, an average general service energy billed bill, and an average general service demand billed bill?

So that's part 1, and then for each of those bills, if you can identify or highlight the line items that are measured first in assessing the distribution rate increase impact.  I suspect it will only be one line, and then, secondly, which lines are included in the total bill impact?


Is that something that you would be able to provide?


MR. ROGER:  I believe the information is included in this exhibit.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Could you take me to it?


MR. ROGER:  If you go to tab F of Exhibit K9, it's attachment 6.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Yes, I have attachment 6.


MR. ROGER:  Page 1 of 45, it's the one that talks about total bill impact of proposed distribution rates.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  If you go to page number 3?


MR. DeROSE:  This is Exhibit K9, attachment 6, page 3 of 46?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  The new class is R1.  The old class is R1.  Do you see that on the left?


MR. DeROSE:  Yes.


MR. ROGER:  If you go down under kilowatt-hours to the row that is 1,000 kilowatt-hours?


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  And you go across there, you'll see what the current bill and the old bill would be and that the impact is 4.6 percent or $6.42.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  So that would be for an average R1 customer at 1,000 kilowatt-hour how the bills are calculated, broken down by distribution, showing commodity, RTSR, wholesale market service charge, DRC.


MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Roger, what I'm interested in is how a customer receiving their bill would view this.  This is not what their bill looks like; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  So what I'm interested in is trying to use the average -- an average bill that a customer would get to try and identify what they see and how they could interpret the various increases that are being described in this application.


MR. ROGER:  The bill to the customer will not show the increase.  The bill to the customer will show four lines based on their consumption under currently approved rates.  This is a bill.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, is there -- would you be able to produce those three bills and I can extrapolate from there?  I've asked for an average bill.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm not sure I understand the question, Mr. DeRose.  So I'm envisioning the bill for -- let's talk about the residential one for an average customer.  And do you want a sample bill?


MR. DeROSE:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  And what do you want Hydro One to identify on that sample bill?  So there will be a line for delivery services in which distribution is embedded; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MS. NOWINA:  So it will show the impacts of this rate proceeding.  And is there something else you're looking for?


MR. DeROSE:  Well, I would also be interested in the total impact.  They also assess total bill impact, and just to identify which line items are or are not currently taken into consideration.  I can do that from the evidence.  The evidence is on the record of what they do take into consideration.


We'd just simply like the bill so that we can actually, quite frankly, in argument, look at the bill so that we can -- we may wish to raise what is shown to the customer in terms of transparency of costs, et cetera.


So I'm less interested in the residential bill.  I am more interested in the general service, but I thought it would be useful to have the three that I see as the...


MS. NOWINA:  I'll quit being a witness and I'll ask the witnesses if they understand the request.


MR. ROGER:  Madam Chair, the bill will not show the difference between the current bill and the proposed bill on the assumption that get the approval that we get.  I would be able to provide a bill, but it will show exactly the same information here, the total bill for residential customers in this case would still be $146.  It will just be broken down into four lines:  The commodity, delivery, wholesale market service charges, and DRC.  From there the customer won't be able to tell what the impact is from any potential rate increase.  That's the bill the customer gets.


MR. DeROSE:  That answer is good enough.  I can move on.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. DeROSE:  And I take it that answer would be similar for both residential customers -- it would be the same for whether you're a residential customer or a general service customer; correct?


MR. ROGER:  I believe the bill format is the same, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Roger, in terms of mitigation, what you have been describe as mitigation is -- well, first of all, can we agree that the mitigation plan that you currently have in place does not result in costs not being paid but rather it is a levelling or a smoothing of costs so that -- a harmonization over time, it's a levelling of costs.


MR. ROGER:  For 2010 it's the same mitigation plan that we had in EB-2007-0681, where each customer class recovered each assigned revenue requirement based on the revenue-to-cost ratios.  But they are legacy customers providing subsidy to the acquired customers within the class.


So for 2010, you're correct.  For 2011, there would still be a left over, if we're not able to harmonize those 12 LDCs, and we need an additional year because we wouldn't have the legacy customers able to subsidize the acquired customers because the legacy customers would already be at the harmonized target rates.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And there's no element in your current mitigation plan which results in a disallowance of costs or a non-recovery of costs by Hydro One; correct?


MR. ROGER:  The cost allocation and rate design and bill impacts are based on the proposed revenue requirement; that's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And one form of mitigation could be an order of a disallowance of costs by the Board; correct?


MR. ROGERS:  I guess so.


MR. DeROSE:  Now, Mr. Roger, are you aware if -- since identifying the associated revenue requirement increase arising out of the updated cost of capital, so this would have been J4.4 and J4.6 that showed the $44 million increase in 2010, are you aware of -- has, to your knowledge has Hydro One written to or notified any of its customers of that increase?


MR. ROGERS:  I'm not aware.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And would it be your -- for the commercial or larger-volume users, would it be someone such as Mr. Boucher in your group that would maintain the relationship with the customers that would go out and give that type of information?


MR. ROGER:   It would, but I don't think we do that.  We update as we go through the hearings, inform the customers where we are.  We inform the customers we submitted a proposal to the OEB.  And then we wait until the final decision.  And then we inform the customers:  This is what the OEB has approved for us.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I take it that someone from your group wouldn't go out on their own and do that, they would wait for instructions from you to do it.  So if you aren't aware of it, in all likelihood, people haven't been out there notifying your commercial customers that there has been this increase?


MR. ROGERS:  It's not my department responsibility, so I'm not aware that -- we haven't done it.  And I'm not sure that anybody else would have done it.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, Madam Chair, if you recall, when the original cost of capital panel was up, the day that they were starting with was the day that the cost of capital report was out.  And at that time there was some discussion about whether, well, whether either the panel would have to be called back or whether there would have to be some additional questions asked.


In preparing for this panel and going through the risk -- the mitigation plan and the cost impacts, there are a handful of undertakings which have been provided by earlier panels which have components of those undertakings that were calculated on the pre-cost of capital ROE, not the post cost of capital updated ROE.


And what we would ask through you is that if -- and I can identify them as I'm going through my questions right now -- identify those, I think there's three undertakings that would just need to be updated to reflect the cost of capital.  I recognize that this panel is likely not the panel that would be updating it, but I think this is probably the appropriate time to raise that.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers, do you have any objection?


MR. ROGERS:  I'd like to hear just what they are.  And it sounds like it won't be a problem.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  The first is Exhibit J2.2.  This was filed on December the 10th.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  So by "yes," Hydro One is going update that undertaking with the same undertaking number?  Or do we need a new undertaking number for comparison?


MR. DeROSE:  I would prefer either a separate undertaking number or, if we just have -- if you indicate "updated" on it so we have the information there.  That's all that we need.  I think it's probably easier if we have J2.2 updated.


MR. ROGERS:  Updated.  That's my take of it.


MS. NOWINA:  That makes sense.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  The second and what I -- is J2.3.  And I will freely admit that I'm not sure whether the updated ROE would have any impact on the revenue requirement to be externally funded.  I don't think it does, but to the effect that it does, I would ask that that undertaking be updated.


MR. ROGERS:  It may, and yes, we will update.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  The third is actually an interrogatory, and it's interrogatory Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 2.  This is an interrogatory from CME, which includes a number of tables, many of which increase include ROE.


And that would be the last one that we would be asking to be updated.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I'm told much of this material has already been provided through other undertakings but my client is prepared to update this one exhibit.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, thank you very much.


Now, panel, if I can now have you turn to Exhibit H, tab 13 -- and I'm sorry, Madam Chair, those are all the undertakings or interrogatories that we were looking to have updated.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. DeROSE:  And thank you, Mr. Rogers and Hydro One for facilitating that.


Panel, if I can have you turn to Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 8, page 1 of 1?


MR. ROGER:  I have that.


MR. DeROSE:  Do you have that, panel?  And this is an interrogatory in which CME was asking about certain cost allocation issues, and I think, to a certain extent, I understand that there will be a second phase to this hearing, but we just wanted to make sure that we don't miss our chance to ask this question.


In your response, you indicate that -- and this is starting at line 32:

"Both charges, Provincial Benefit and Wholesale Market Service charges are volumetric charges and there is no classification and allocation of these charges between customer classes."


And you go on:

"Since the OEB approves these charges, it is possible that any concern with respect to these charges may be addressed by the OEB."


And it's that last sentence that I'd like to ask you about.  Did you have -- well, first of all, was it within the context of your rate case, of this rate case, that you envisioned that these charges could be addressed by the OEB?


MR. ROGER:  No.  It was in response to the question.  The way that I understood the last part of the question is:  If these issues cannot be raised by ratepayers in these proceedings, then in what proceeding can the issues be raised, the issue how to allocate the wholesale market service charge and the provincial benefit between customer classes?


What we're trying to say there, from Hydro One's perspective, those are volumetric charges approved by the OEB, and we just apply them.


So if the question concerns on how could be -- there could be a reallocation of those costs or recovery from other customers, we said maybe the OEB would need address that, but it wasn't something that Hydro One could do.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And you didn't have a particular proceeding in mind or a forum in mind that that could be addressed when you wrote that sentence, I take it, then?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.  No proceeding in mind.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.  Now, if I can have you turn to Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 11, this is an interrogatory from Mr. Poch's client.  And he actually asked you about this interrogatory this morning.  Do you have it?


MR. ROGER:  We do.


MR. DeROSE:  You indicate in this interrogatory -- we're referring to a CDM-related consulting study, and you indicate that part (a) is to be completed by early 2010, with part (b) following thereafter.


Do you have any sense of when both part (a) and part (b) of that study would be complete?


MR. BUT:  I would say at this point, first quarter of 2010.


MR. DeROSE:  I see.  And would the findings or proposals, if there's any, contained in that study, including both part (a) and part (b) once it's released, would that be in any way incorporated by Hydro One prior to 2012?


MR. BUT:  Yes.  Most likely.


MR. DeROSE:  And how would that be incorporated?


MR. BUT:  For example, for part (a), we are asking a consultant to provide advice to Hydro One what type of CDM portfolio we should consider for the future years.  And in future applications of CDM, after the CM target is set, Hydro One intend to submit additional information in support of the program that Hydro One would undertake.


So that would be an avenue.  That part (a) result would be attached.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I take it that if you submit further information about CDM, is that something that you require further Board approval on?


MR. BUT:  We expect that once the CDM target to be set by the government, there will be a process for which the Board, the OPA and -- to discuss how this would be done.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, thank you.  And so that is the context in which this study will then become used and useful, so to speak, prior to 2012?


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, if I could turn you to Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 1, page 125, this is an interrogatory from Board Staff.  Do you have that, Mr. Roger?


MR. ROGER:  I have that.


MR. DeROSE:  And the question relates to your testimony in 2008 that a connectivity study of Hydro One's customers was ongoing at that time.  Your response is that the study has not yet been done.  It was decided to wait for when better customer connectivity and line details were available in your GIS system.

Was that study being conducted in-house or was it being conducted by external consultants?


MR. ROGER:  What we are referring to here is a density study.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  So we haven't thought about hiring an external consultant to do it.  I think the context for the conversation was, if we would need to do a density review of the R1 or two customers.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  And we said that when we would have the connectivity study done, completed, it would be easier to do such a study.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so the study which was ongoing in 2008 -- do you see that in the question?  What was ongoing in 2008?


MR. ROGER:  The GIS system, the connectivity study, to try to identify assets with customers.


MR. DeROSE:  And was that being done externally or internally.


MR. ROGER:  I believe that's being done internally.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And, finally, if I can take you to Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 41.  Do you have that?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I do.


MR. DeROSE:  Now, the table that you provide here with the range of rate impacts, is that something that you can prepare or do you have that information on both general -- on your GS under 50 and GS over 50 in that same format?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, the information is in that Exhibit K9.1, and we could extract it from there and provide it in this format, if that would be useful.


MR. DeROSE:  That would be certainly useful for me.


And I take it that the information you would be extracting from K9, that would already include the cost of capital update; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  If you could do that, I would thank you for that.  And perhaps just so that we don't exclude the residential customers, if it's something that you can extract easily for the residential customers, as well, I think others in the proceeding would appreciate that.


MR. ROGER:  Residential customers by class or in total?  We have --


MR. DeROSE:  No, in the same way that you did here.  I'm assuming that these numbers have not been updated for the ROE.  So if you're extracting the GS under 50 and the GS over 50 from K9 --

MR. ROGER:  Yes, we can do that.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's get an undertaking number.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, undertaking J9.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.4:  PROVIDE GS UNDER 50, GS OVER 50 AND RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMER INFORMATION FROM EXHIBIT K9.1 AND PROVIDE IN SAME FORMAT AS EXHIBIT H, TAB 9, SCHEDULE 41.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. DeROSE:  And thank you very much, panel.  Those are all my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Have we determined who's going to go next?  Mr. Crocker?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  Before we get started, I just want to make sure that you have information which we distributed in December before the break.  It was a one-page chart -- I'm sorry, it was one page with three charts on it.


MS. NOWINA:  Did we give it a reference number, Mr. Crocker?


MR. CROCKER:  It wasn't.


MS. NOWINA:  Do you have an exhibit number?


MR. CROCKER:  No, not yet.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  It hasn't been filed here.  You just sent it.


MR. DeROSE:  It's my fault.  It was sitting on my desk and I didn't pass them around.


MR. MILLAR:  This will be Exhibit K9.6, Madam Chair.  And could we just give the document a name, Mr. Crocker, what is it?


MR. CROCKER:  How would you like to describe it?


Why don't we call it "Changes in industrial output from load forecast."


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we call it AMPCO's tables of changes of... in industrial forecast.

EXHIBIT NO. K9.6:  AMPCO'S TABLES OF CHANGES IN INDUSTRIAL OUTPUT FROM LOAD FORECAST


MR. CROCKER:  Just out of interest, did you gentlemen see this before this morning?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, we did.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Good.  All right.


I'll be asking you questions with respect to two specific areas.  One has to deal with the allocation of retail and transmission service changes, and particularly the impact on the sub-transmission class, the ST class, customers.  And the second, I want to briefly talk to you about the potential impact of the motion that Hydro One has brought to have the Board review its decision with respect to transmission rates.  And you're aware of that, I assume?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I'm aware.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If we could look, please, at the first chart on the exhibit, and I'm sorry, I didn't get the number.


MR. DeROSE:  9.6, K.


MR. CROCKER:  Yeah.  Okay.  What we have done is simply to put in chart form the reference -- the information which you've -- which you've put in A14.4, section 2.5.  We've just put it in the chart.  You agree with that?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I'm not sure which of you gentlemen would be most comfortable answering these questions.  Probably Mr. But, but whomever of you.


Now, just to make the obvious obvious.  You've identified forecast declines in industrial output from 2006 going forward, and I'm correct, am I not, in suggesting it's 2 percent in 2006, 2.5 percent in 2007, 8.6 percent in 2008, and 6.7 percent in 2009?  Those numbers are correct, are they not?


MR. BUT:  Subject to check, I accept.


MR. CROCKER:  All right.  And we've then gone ahead in our table and shown cumulative percent changes.  And our math indicates that it's just over 18 percent from 2005 to 2009.


Have you reviewed those numbers and, if so, do you agree with them?  And if not, could you please review them?


MR. BUT:  I assume your calculation as you presented in K9.6 is correct.  I just want to mention that this information you refer to as the industrial output, actually, we have updated that information in a Board IR, and in H1.12.  In that response, actually, we updated the industrial DVP information for 2009, '10, and '11.


MR. CROCKER:  All right.  I wasn't aware of it but we'll take a quick -- explain to me, then, could you, have they've changed?


MR. BUT:  So for example, in the industrial DVP, you can see that the rate of change for 2009 is minus 7.4, 2010 is minus 6, and 2011 is 4.6.


MR. CROCKER:  So I'm correct --


MR. BUT:  And that information is different from the information you have presented in the table.


MR. CROCKER:  We didn't note the change, I apologize for that.  There are small changes; you would agree with that?  And marginally more, could I call it pessimistic?


MR. BUT:  Basically, yes.  The update reflects the latest economic situation of 2009.


MR. CROCKER:  I haven't done -- we haven't done the arithmetic with respect with respect to the update, but even with your forecast improvements in 2010 and 2008, this is a decrease in industrial output of more than 10 percent.  That is correct, isn't it?


MR. BUT:  Based on your calculation, that is correct.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And would you agree, Mr. But, that the forecast decline in industrial electricity demand tracks pretty closely a decline in industrial output.


MR. BUT:  The industrial output is a value-added concept while the actual demand, electricity demand, consumption is firm and industry-specific.


For example, if we have a continued downturn in the pulp and paper industry, although the aggregate GDP may be going up, you would see a customer in that particular segment will continue to go down.  So it all depends on what industry segment you're talking about.


MR. CROCKER:  But taken broadly, do you agree with me -- do you agree with the concept?  That is, taken beyond one industry sector, taken broadly?


MR. BUT:  Yes, that is the correct direction.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And do you have any expectations that there will be significant changes to this in 2011, in terms of your forecasting?


MR. BUT:  In terms of our forecast with respect to the information you presented --


MR. CROCKER:  Yes.


MR. BUT: -- in this table?


MR. CROCKER:  Yes.


MR. BUT:  As I mentioned earlier, we have already updated that information in H1.12 table.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can you please turn to table 4 on page 19 of the load forecast.  That's A14 -- where are we here?  A14.4.


MR. BUT:  I have table 4.  A14.4.


MR. CROCKER:  You're expecting a decline in load forecast from 40,609 gigawatt-hours in 2006 to 38,049 gigawatt-hours in 2011, would you agree with that?


MR. BUT:  I agree.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  That's, once again, doing math, about 6 percent, subject to check.  Would you agree with that?


MR. BUT:  Subject to check, I agree with your calculations.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  When you compare the decline in industrial use of energy in Ontario to the decline of use of electricity in Ontario for other classes, would you agree that the decline in the industrial sector is greater than in those other classes?


MR. BUT:  I agree.


MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Roger, could you please turn to Exhibit G2-3, schedule 1?


MR. ROGER:  I have that.


MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Roger, would you agree with me that the evidence indicates that the calculation of the demand of the ST class, the sub-transmission class, results in this class being allocated 46 percent of total transmission charges?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I do.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I know you have with you, because your predecessor -- the previous panels, had the
decision -- the material, rather, in EB-2007-0681 with them.  I would imagine you can answer this question without evening turning to it.


But that in that application, the calculation came out exactly the same; that is, that class was responsible for 46 percent of transmission charges?  I can give you the references, if you need them.


MR. ROGER:  I believe you are correct.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can we go, then, to Exhibit K9.6, and can we look, please, at tables 2 and 3?


I can break out the numbers if you need them broken out, but I assume that since you've had them for a while, that you've sort of figured out what we were dealing with here.  And would you agree with me that the ST class -- this is at table 2 -- that the ST class network charge determinant has declined 8.7 percent for the period that we're talking about?

MR. ROGER:  Yes, I can see that on your table.


MR. CROCKER:  And have you independently determined whether that's accurate?


MR. ROGER:  The numbers looked okay, yes.


MR. CROCKER:  Yeah.  And similarly with other classes, three points -- a decline of only, if that's the right modifier, 3.69 percent and the sum of the demand billed charge in kilowatt-hours is 6.92 percent?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I can see that on the table.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And, similarly, in table 3 where we've summarized a bit, would you once again agree with the allocations -- the increases in allocation which we've determined?  That is the ST class is 7.7 percent, the other classes is 6.5 percent, and then the sum of demand class allocations is 1.3 percent?  You would agree with those, as well?

MR. ROGER:  That's correct, but they're based on different uniform transmission rates.


MR. CROCKER:  Explain that, could you?


MR. ROGER:  The 2007-0681 was based on the uniform transmission rates that I believe were approved in 2008 -- approved in November 2007 going to December 2008.


The column showing 2008-0096 is based on the currently approved UTRs.  So you would see that the numbers would go up, because, for example, the network uniform transmission rates went from $2.31 per kW to $2.66 per kW.  So not only the load changed, but also the uniform transmission rates also changed.


MR. CROCKER:  All right.  How does -- do you agree with -- does that change your -- whether or not you can accept the conclusions as to the percent change?


MR. ROGER:  I think the percentage change results from two different load forecasts applied in two different proceedings and two different uniform transmission rates.  The sum of the dollars is exactly the same.


MR. CROCKER:  Even with that -- disclaimer is not the right word, but even with that caution that you've just suggested, explain to me how, with the differences in changes that we've pointed out in this material, you can allocate 46 percent in one here -- in one application and allocate 46 percent exactly the same in the second?  Is that fair?  Is it correct?


MR. ROGER:  We followed the same methodology and the results happen to be the same.  It's probably a reflection of the load forecast and the comparison between the ST class and all the other classes.


What you've done in here, you've split the other classes between energy billed and demand billed, which is not what we do.  We take the total billed from the IESO, and then we split it into the ST class, because for the ST class we have excellent data.  We have hourly data.  And the remainder gets allocated to all other customers.


Once that we have those dollars, we determine what the retail transmission service rates are supposed to be.  The methodology is the same as we followed.  The results are the same.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I understand how the methodology is the same.  I don't understand how the results can be the same if you look at it from my simplistic level, and that is that the changes in industrial demand are more extreme than the demand in other classes.


MR. ROGER:  Can we have a moment, please?


MR. CROCKER:  Sure.


MR. BUT:  Perhaps I can help.  I guess one way to explain that is because we're talking about two different sets of load forecasts.  The forecast for 2007-0681 is for the period where test year is 2008, while for 2009-0096, we are talking about the forecast period for 2010 and '11.


The economy has changed and the forecast for the ST customer has also changed.  As you pointed to earlier, that in 2007, at a time when we have the load forecast determined for 2007-0681, we don't have a recession of the -- or perhaps I should call, we don't expect to have a great recession that we have experienced today.  That is the reason why we are now comparing two different set of forecasts with respect to the industrial customers.


MR. CROCKER:  I still don't think I understand your answer, but... What I don't understand is how the 46 percent doesn't change despite the fact that the demand for energy, the division of the demand for energy between the classes has changed.


MR. ROGER:  The 46 percent is derived by looking at the network bill we get from the IESO, looking at the station by station, what the contribution is of the ST class versus the other classes.  So that and then we do the same thing for the line and transformation.  We see what the bill is from the IESO estimated bill based on the estimated forecast for 2010, and we split it within the two groups.


So probably what's happening is that the responsibility has stayed the same.  The values have come down.  But when you look at the coincident demand of the stations and you try to identify how much is the ST class responsible versus the other classes, it remained the same at the time of the network charge, which is a coincident demand charge.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Thank you.  I'll -- we'll make our points, I guess, in argument.


I'd like to turn to the motion that Hydro One has brought to have the Board reconsider at the transmission rates, some groundwork with obvious questions.


The rates that the Board fixes for transmission are sort of carried through to the distribution rates, aren't they?


MR. ROGER:  The uniform transmission rates that the Board approved for transmission companies are translated into retail transmission service rates for distributors, yes.


MR. CROCKER:  I was just going to say, and that affects the distribution rates?


MR. ROGER:  It affects the retail transmission service rate, not the distribution rates.  The delivery charges, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  With the cost of capital decision, and the increases on return on equity that that provides, once again an obvious question:  That will increase the retail transmission service rates, the RTSR?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, because the UTR, the uniform transmission rates, will go up, everything else remaining equal.  So it translates into higher retail transmission service rates.


MR. CROCKER:  This is another factor providing increased rates which have sort of been a constant throughout this hearing; correct?


MR. ROGER:  No.  The retail transmission service rates that we are using in our bill impacts in the original submission filed July 13th reflected the current uniform transmission rates.


If the Board's approve new uniform transmission rates as of January 1, 2010, the retail transmission service rates would go up from what we've used in K9.1.


But what we did also was we limited the bill impact to 9.5 percent, not to 10 percent on total bill, allowing us some room to incorporate higher retail transmission service rates but still be within the 10 percent total bill impact based on average consumption by customer class.


MR. CROCKER:  Did you anticipate a cost of capital increase to 9.75 percent?


MR. ROGER:  I haven't anticipated anything.  I'm waiting for the UTRs to be approved.  What I'm saying is that when we capped the increase, instead of doing it to 10 percent on total bill, we did it to 9.5 percent on total bill in K9.1, on the assumption that the RTSRs will go up because of the new UTRs to be approved on January 1st, 2010.


MR. CROCKER:   No, I understand that.  And maybe you can't answer this question, but did you give yourself enough room, did you anticipate an increase which was as much -- to bring the cost of capital up to 9.75 percent?  Do you know that?


MR. ROGER:  No, I don't know that, but our intention is that if the Board approves new UTRs, and we implement new retail transmission service rates to comply with the new UTRs, we'll still cap the impact to 10 percent on total bill, including the effect of the new retail transmission service rates.  So we'll still be within that 10 percent guideline from this Board.


MR. CROCKER:  I'm not sure I understand how you can say that when you also say that you didn't anticipate an increase to 9.75 percent.  Did you estimate increases?  I just don't understand how you are so confident that you left yourself enough room.  Do you not have -- are you not in a position where you may have to compensate by reducing your expectations in other areas?


MR. ROGER:  What we do is, after a decision comes out from this Board on the revenue requirement for 2010 and 2011, we'll have a new revenue requirement.  We'll also update for any new RTSR reflecting the current UTRs at the time we issue the draft rate order.  And then we go through the same process of estimating the bill impacts based on average consumptions.  We will limit the impact to 10 percent based on average consumption.  And we will propose a similar mitigation to what we're doing now, where in 2010, the legacy customers are subsidizing the acquired customers.


So I'm confident that with the new revenue requirement approved for distribution, and any impact that come out of the uniform transmission rate, that we'll be able to comply with the Board guidelines, limiting the impact to customer classes to 10 percent or less based on total bill when you include the new distribution revenue requirement, and new regional transmission service rates.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  We heard evidence earlier today of the mitigation that -- the increase in mitigation which resulted in the material which is already before the Board.


Can you estimate for me the increase in mitigation that would be required to implement a cost of capital at 9.75 percent for transmission?


MR. ROGER:  We haven't done that exercise.  It would mean that we would have to assume that the Board is going to approve the 2010 transmission revenue requirement.  It would mean that we would have to assume what the UTRs will be, and then develop retail transmission service rates based on those new UTRs, and then do all the rate derivation and bill impact mitigation.


We haven't done that exercise.


MR. CROCKER:  You would agree with me, would you not, that if the Board does approve the motion, the material in the motion, that the mitigation will increase?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, the mitigation will increase from legacy customers to acquired customers.


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.  Who has planned -- first let me ask you, Mr. Shepherd, Mr. DeVellis is gone, so are you going to do the entire cross for Schools, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to be doing the entire cross, as it turns out.  It will be between 30 and 60 minutes, but I believe Mr. Buonaguro will precede me, and I don't think I'm up today.


MS. NOWINA:  You're not up today.  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm touching wood, as I say that.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro, are you up next, then?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I believe so.  I think it's just the two of us.


MS. NOWINA:  And Mr. Stephenson?


MR. STEPHENSON:  I think I had 15 minutes maximum.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So do you want to begin, Mr. Buonaguro.  And we'll take a break at about -- between 3:00 and 3:15, wherever it works for you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I'm happy to go right now.  The only caveat would be that usually I set up my computer and it can go a bit faster if I can put up my screen.


MS. NOWINA:  We always enjoy that, Mr. Buonaguro.  All right.  Then, why don't we take our break now so you have an opportunity to set up.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 2:43 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:05 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Mr. Buonaguro, we'll aim to finish between 4:00 and 4:30, hopefully closer to 4:00.  So if you could find whatever is a natural break for you during that time frame, that would be good.  Thanks.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.  I am going to start with something new, I think.  I have a question about the microFIT charge, the proposed microFIT charge, and I'll pull up on the screen Exhibit G1, tab 4, schedule 1, page 2, where you talk about the new fixed charge for microgenerators.


And, basically, you're saying that the fixed charge for microgenerators that you're proposing is equivalent to a USL fixed charge credit; correct?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And am I correct that the credit you are proposing to use is then, therefore, $6.15 per month, equivalent to the GSE credit that we see elsewhere in the evidence?


MR. ROGER:  Before the application of the new cost of capital, the credit goes up to $6.42; correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  So that's subject to updating based on the cost of capital?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And am I correct that that charge, subject to that updating, would apply to all microgenerators, regardless of the load customer they are associated with?

MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I believe you are aware, of course, that the Board has an ongoing proceeding to establish the appropriate charge for microgenerators.  That's EB-2009-0326.


MR. ROGER:  I am aware.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding is that you have made -- or Hydro One has made submissions in that case, and the proposal that you're suggesting in that proceeding is the same as you are proposing in this proceeding?  It's the same scheme?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, if we can assume for a moment that the Board adopts an approach different than the one you're proposing here and in that proceeding, is it Hydro One Networks' position that it would request -- it would be to approve the use of the USL credit in its case, or would you follow the Board's direction in terms of the charge?


MR. ROGER:  We will follow the Board's direction with respect to the other proceeding, as long as we can incorporate it into this proceeding.  It's really a matter of timing.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  Assuming that that decision comes out before we have to implement this rate, then we would follow the guideline from the Board from the other proceeding.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  And if as a matter of timing that decision comes out after these rates -- the rates in this proceeding become effective, when would be the next opportunity for you to update the charge?  You seem to be suggesting to me that you would have to wait some time.


MR. ROGER:  I would assume it would be part of the next cost-of-service proceeding, unless we can change them for 2011.  We haven't thought that far yet.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.


I'm going switch topics.  I'm going pull up Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 112, and I'm looking at part c) of that interrogatory response.


MR. ROGER:  I have that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And here you state that your RSVA provincial benefit account is really the same as the RSVA global adjustment sub-account; do you see that?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I see that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And in part b) of this response, you were asked and you provided a revised calculation of Rider No. 6 using the allocators recommended by the Board in EB-2008-0046 for the provincial benefit account and the wholesale market service charge account?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I'm not going to turn to the calculation.  It follows this -- it follows as an attachment to this.


Now, can I -- I'd like you to confirm whether or not Hydro One is willing to adopt the revised calculation of Rate Rider 6, as it appears in this interrogatory response, for the purposes of this application insofar as it actually follows the Board's recommendations in EB-2008-0046, or whether you're still seeking approval of the originally filed Rate Rider 6?


MR. ROGER:  We will follow the decision from this Board, but I would like to point out that allocating the RSVA wholesale market service charge to all customers, regardless if they are market participants or non-market participants, doesn't seem to me to be appropriate.


So even though the guidelines are that it should be allocated based on kilowatt-hours, I think that the RSVA wholesale market service charge will be allocated only to the non-market participants.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  I just want to make sure I understand.  So your proposal allocates it only to the non-market participants; is that what you said?  I mean --


MR. ROGER:  The RSVA wholesale market service charge in our proposal - and we think it's still valid - allocates it only to non-market participants.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And you recognize that in EB-2008-0046, the Board recommended a different allocator, and essentially allocated it to all customers?  I think that's what you said?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.  But it could be that this is an issue mainly for Hydro One, because we have many wholesale market participants.  For other LDCs, it may not make much of a difference.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And just to finish the thought from my perspective, you're saying that despite the Board's direction in this case, you think that Hydro One has unique circumstances to some degree?  I think that's what you just said.


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's essentially that you have a lot of market participants?


MR. ROGER:  I believe there was an interrogatory to that effect, and I believe it was something like 30 percent of the load.  I can refer you to the interrogatory where we said that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  That's fine.  Thank you.


I'm going to ask you some questions about the approach to density-based rates, and I'm going to start with Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 105, part a).


MR. ROGER:  I have that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And in the second paragraph of the response, you state that:

"The next stage will be determined on the basis of the direction provided by the Board with respect to the principles it endorses with respect to density based rates."

And if we've read this correctly, the direction you're looking for is three-fold.  First, and you've indicated here as point number 1, you are looking for direction from the Board on whether or not it is appropriate to maintain urban and rural classes at all; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you agree that one of the inputs that you would want in making that determination is knowing if there are material cost differences in serving rural versus urban customers?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, but you need to agree also on what the definition of "urban" would be.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Would you agree that determining whether or not there are material cost differences between rural and urban would be a question you can't really answer until you've decided how best to factor density and locational impacts on costs into the cost allocation methodology?


MR. ROGER:  I think you need to agree first on what urban and rural are, the definitions, before you can start collecting the data to be able to determine if there are cost differentials.  Absent that definition, how could you determine if the costs are significant?  For example, the definition that we use is slightly different than the definition that Dr. Woo is recommending.


So you need to start, first of all, in trying to collect costs for a typical urban or a typical rural customer.  You need to agree on what is the definition for what we're going call urban.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Under point 2, it seems you want direction on preferred approach for assigning customers to urban versus rural classes.  And are you saying here that you want to know the preferred approach for defining rural and urban classes?  Is that what you're saying there?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.  We have one methodology of defining it.  There is another one that has been floated about based on municipal boundaries.  So we need to know which way we're going to -- which definition we're going to use to determine what an urban customer is.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in terms of picking that definition of rural versus urban, wouldn't you want to make that definition, based on information as to the cost differences between the two proposed definitions?  Wouldn't you want to know which definitions result in cost differences before you define them?


MR. ROGER:  The problem that I'm having is how can I track rural costs or urban costs if I don't know what the definition of urban and rural is?  The costs would be different if I define urban is being 2,000 customers.  If it will be 3,000 customers, 5,000 customers, or if it's municipal boundaries.


So to me, the first thing is to define urban first, and then start collecting the costs.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  It sounds me that in approaching the problem with a pre-defined issue of urban versus rural, what I perceived from you is that you need to determine what is urban and what is rural as a concept before you do anything else.  That's what I'm getting from you; is that correct?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But would you agree that if you do it, if you approach the exercise that way, ultimately it is possible that you'll end up with two different rate class, urban and rural, that have little or no cost difference, since you haven't -- you haven't looked at cost differential in making those definitions in the first place?  It is possible that by defining urban versus rural, dividing customers on that basis and then attributing costs to those different classes, you might end up with no cost difference?


MR. ROGER:  Not necessarily, I don't follow.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm not suggesting that it's necessary, I'm just saying that approaching that way, it's possible that you might end up with two classes defined, I guess, locationally, for example, but end up with two classes that have no cost differential.


MR. ROGER:  I guess it's possible, but right now, we have our own definition, and there are cost differences when you take the cost allocation in the UR, R1, and R2 customer classes and the revenue requirement allocated to them, you divide by the energy that those customers consume, you get different unit costs.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, do I understand correctly that that results because you've worked density as a concept into cost allocation?


MR. ROGER:  You might get those results even if you don't have density weights.  I think what you're saying is that because I have the density weights I am going to get different answers.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm just saying that the way Hydro One Networks current system work, you've worked the concept of density into your cost allocation model.  Am I correct?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.  But we're trying to reflect costs.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.


MR. ROGER:  And that's a proxy for the difference in cost of supplying urban, R1, and R2 classes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.  Now, under point 3, you were asking, I believe, for direction from the Board as to how to approach the issue of allocating costs between urban and rural classes and whether proxy methods are reasonable.  You see that part?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I do.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And if we turn up Mr. Todd's evidence, which is at G1, tab 2, schedule 5, attachment 1, page 20, and I'll turn up in a moment.  So again, for people who want to track it, it's Exhibit G1, tab 2, schedule 5, attachment 1, page 20.  Here he has listed a number of approaches.  Is it fair to say that the first approach reflects full blown detail analysis?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And there was some discussion about this particular bit of evidence before.  Would you agree with me that anything beyond that would be considered a proxy method?  These other alternatives are proxy methods for a full blown detail analysis.


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And at page 27, Mr. Todd concludes that the sample data approach is the preferred proxy method.  And do you agree with that conclusion?  And I ask -- I know there was some discussion about the costs involved in the various methodologies, but I don't think you answered this specific question.  Do you agree that the sample method is an appropriate or preferred method for doing -- for undertaking this exercise?


MR. ROGER:  It's an acceptable method, but again, we are trying to encourage the Board to look at, is this the right time of doing it?  We have a proxy method right now that tries to reflect the difference in cost causality.  Here we have a different proxy method for trying to achieve the same thing.  Dr. Woo also suggested a different proxy method.  I'm not sure that any one of those is more or less cost-based than what we have.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So if I were to ask you the question:  Is this a sample data method preferable to your current approach for allocating costs based on density, I think your answer is probably not?


MR. ROGER:  I think Mr. Todd tried to explain or tried to throw darts at the board, but you don't know what the target is.  So it's hard to tell that one proxy method is going to be better than another one, because we don't know what the target is.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I take it from that that you would see his proposal as being equally acceptable, sorry, as your current system as being equally acceptable to his proposal?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.  And I think Mr. Todd also said that maybe the status quo is an acceptable alternative at this stage.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm going to move on to a new topic.  I'm going turn up Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 122.


MR. ROGER:  I have that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And here we asked you about what appeared to be an inconsistency in the assumptions used in the minimum system analysis.  And the answer, which I'll blow up here, was, well, you basically indicated that a proper answer would require input from the original consultant to reconcile the matter -- you see that?


MR. ROGER:  Yes, I see that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, accepting that I guess the full answer would have to come from a consultant, we'd like to determine whether you would agree with this, these following statements.


Do you agree that there appears to be inconsistency as to detail?  Now, I'll go up to the answer -- sorry, to the question, which sets it out.


So we've pointed out that the minimum system study assumes that all existing conductors are replaced by the minimum system conductor, but for the purposes of determining the PLCC adjustment, the study assumes that each distribution station would supply a single feeder.


Do you agree that there appears to be an inconsistency in those two different approaches?


MR. ROGER:  There appears to be, but it's quite possible that this is the standard in the industry, that when you are doing a minimum system, this is what you do; and that's the reason I would need to contact the consultant and try to understand this -- is this inconsistent or this is the way that it's done, as a matter of fact.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So let me just parse that.  I think you're agreeing with me that on the face of it it appears inconsistent, but that it may be that the consultant has a very reasonable explanation for it but you don't know what that explanation is?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.  It could be that this is the standard for doing minimum system.  Again, the minimum system is a theoretical exercise of replacing the distribution system with the lowest installed.  It doesn't take into account reliability.  We know it's going collapse if it turns out.


So it's quite possible that there is no inconsistency; that this is the way it's being done.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand.


MR. ROGER:  But without consulting him, I wouldn't know.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, I want to ask you some further questions on it, though, notwithstanding the fact that we don't know what the consultants say.


If we were to reconcile the apparent inconsistency by using the actual number of feeders from each station to determine the PLCC adjustment, and that's, I believe that's essentially what we asked you to model at part c) of the question, if you were to do that, would you agree that that would increase the PLCC adjustment for each class?  Would that be the effect of doing it that way?


MR. ROGER:  Directionally, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Would you also agree that this would tend to reduce the allocation demand costs to classes such as residential, relative to the GS demand or the ST classes, since the demand per customer is lower?


MR. ROGER:  It's possible, but the PLCC that we are using is already much higher than anybody else has seen.  If you recall that study, I believe it was something like 3,000 kilowatts that we were adjusting for the demand for the customer resulting from the PLCC, which, compared to other minimum system, is substantially higher.  And that reflects the fact that probably we have excess capacity in the system when we allocate transformers.  We use 10 kVa transformer.  That's the lowest that we install, and the feeders probably can absorb more capacity.

So we're already at the high end of the adjustment that we do for the PLCC.  This might push it even higher, but it could get to the point where no demand-related costs will be allocated to that class.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But I think at the start that you agreed that reconciling it in the way that I proposed would (a) move it higher directionally, and (b) increase the allocation I guess away from residential classes based on demand per customer?  That would be the effect of doing it that way?


MR. ROGER:  Theoretically, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And, alternatively, if you were to reconcile the apparent inconsistency by undertaking the minimum system cost calculation assuming only one feeder from each station, do you agree that this would reduce the cost of the minimum system?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And would you also agree that such an approach would reduce the costs allocated to classes, again, such as residential, where the demand per customer is low relative to the GS demand or ST class, where individual customer demand is higher on average?


MR. ROGER:  Wouldn't it be the opposite?  If the minimum system is lower, then there is more cost to be allocated less -- they get less of a credit on the demand-related costs, so the remainder cost needs to be allocated to all customer classes.


I think, to me, the two things that you mention are either one or the other.  They cannot both go out in the same direction.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So then let me just confirm.  So if you reconcile the inconsistency or apparent inconsistency by redoing the minimum system calculation, assuming only one feeder from each station, you're saying that -- you are agreeing that it would reduce the costs of minimum system, but at the same time it would increase to costs allocated to classes such as residential, based on their lower demand?


MR. ROGER:  That's my guess, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I'll take that answer subject to check.  I don't want you to -- if it turns out to be something different, you'll let me know?


MR. ROGER:  Okay.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thanks.  Thank you.  All right.  I'm going to ask some questions about bill impact and mitigation, and I'm going to start with Exhibit G1, tab 8, schedule 1.  And that's more of a reference.  This is -- or where am I talking about?


On pages 1 to 2, you describe the mitigation measures you've undertaken to limit average bill impacts for each customer class to a maximum of 10 percent in 2010.  And I think you've talked about today already that when you're talking about mitigation, what you look at for each class is the bill impact for the average-sized customer.


And in Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 113, you set out the definitions for the different rate classes.  So, for example, in the case of residential, it's a customer using 1,000 kilowatts per month.  You've had that discussion today already; right?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  The first mitigation measure you've taken is to phase in the target distribution rates over two years as opposed to fully implementing them in 2010; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And then the second thing you've done is, in those acquired LDCs where the average customer in a class would still see an increase of over 10 percent, you've reduced the volumetric rate for the class so as to limit the increase to 10 percent for an average customer; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me how many LDCs were affected by this particular measure, the second one?


MR. ROGER:  I don't have that information with me.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I get an undertaking, or
perhaps -- well, it would be easier for me if I get an undertaking, or you could tell me how you would look at the information you filed to make that determination.


MR. ROGER:  I think one way of finding that information is in Exhibit G1, tab 8, schedule 1, table 3.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And is that it on the screen?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  G1, tab 8, schedule 1, page 6 of 14, table 3?


MR. ROGER:  If you compare them, the initial versus the mitigated rates, and if you see a difference there, you will see that we mitigate it.  If I direct you, for example, on page 7 of 14, to the Fenelon Falls, the initial 2010 rate volumetric charge would have been 3.3 cents a kilowatt-hour.  To mitigate it is 3.21 cents a kilowatt-hour.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So if you go through this schedule --

MR. ROGER:  And you compare the two columns, you'll see how many LDCs we have to mitigate.  It's not that many.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, it's not that many that were mitigated?


MR. ROGER:  There aren't that many.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Perhaps -- okay.  I think maybe my cross is going to go over until tomorrow, so between the two of us, maybe we can put that number on the record tomorrow, unless you can do it for me on the spot.


MR. ROGER:  I think there's only one I can see, which happens to be Fenelon Falls by comparing the two columns here.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  So you're saying that only one LDC actually experienced mitigation in that second -- in that second sense of the word?


MR. ROGER:  One acquired residential LDC, we had to lower their volumetric charge so that the average impact was at 10 percent or less.  This is still based on the original revenue requirements submission of July --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  -- of 2009.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  That's understood.  Thank you.


Now, staying with this second bit of mitigation, which I understand only occurred in the one instance, my understanding is that the lost revenue from this reduction was assigned to the legacy customer class within the same group?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And according to Exhibit H, tab 7, 115(c), the amount of shortfall that was being absorbed by legacy customers is 280,000; is that correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in your opening today, you mentioned a difference between the application and the cost of capital update, in terms of shortfall, as being somewhere between 300,000 in the application and $1.9 million currently?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.  The 300,000 that I referred you is the 280,000 in here.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.  I just wanted to confirm that.


Now, can you confirm that the two measures I've spoken about, one phasing in target distribution rates over two years, and, two, moving essentially this $280,000, those are all of the mitigation actions that were taken in the original application?


MR. ROGER:  For 2010; correct.  And this is the same measure that we took as part of the EB-2007-0681 when we started the harmonization process.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, you filed Exhibit K9.1 last week, which provided the updates to the rate schedules and bill impact tables incorporating the Board's recent guidelines and cost of capital.


Now, you've had this discussion, I think, before today, or today.  My understanding is it also -- it continues to include the two-year phase-in approach to harmonizing rates, but I think you've said you've added a third year for some classes; is that right?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.  If the revenue requirement is approved as submitted, and we want to have impacts a maximum of 10 percent on total bill, I mentioned there were a number of -- I think 12 acquired general service energy billed customer classes we would need an additional year to be able to harmonize the rates to them.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then you've given us the new figure, so the $280,000 in mitigation related to one class has increased to $1.9 million; right?


MR. ROGER:  It's not one class.  These are for all customer classes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  I mean, originally the $280,000 was related to one, you said one particular residential class, that former form of mitigation.


MR. ROGER:  But we also have general service customers.  The bulk of that 280 was to general service energy billed customers.  We could go through the same table I showed in G1, 8, 2, I think it was.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  And compare for general service energy billed customers, the difference between mitigated rate and the original rate.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, then I misunderstood your answer on that.  I understood that there was only one -- you pointed to one class and you said it was within the Fenelon Falls that required that particular type of mitigation, and you're telling me that it's actually more now.


MR. ROGER:  There was one residential class.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.


MR. ROGER:  The same table has general service.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  And there, there is more than one, but still it's not a lot.  But the same exercise could be done by just comparing the two columns to see where the mitigation is.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then the total mitigation related to that problem is 280,000, ask it's gone to $1.9 million now.


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now.  Looking at Exhibit K9.1, attachment 1, page 1, and looking at table 2, can you tell me from this table, or within this table, which is the legacy customer classes, which classes have higher bill impacts in part due to the mitigation.  So because of the $1.9 million being shifted around, which legacy customer classes have experienced an increased rate or bill impact?


MR. ROGER:  Could I have a moment, please?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MR. ROGER:  The R1 class.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  The seasonal customer class did not
have -- did not require any mitigation, now requires mitigations between the R3 and R4, the general service energy, and the GSC unmetered.  So the only new customer class that wasn't there before was the seasonal customer class.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand.  Thank you.


MR. ROGER:  The amount of subsidy now is higher but for the same classes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  With the additional of what class?


MR. ROGER:  Seasonal.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you.  Now, you mentioned R1 and the bill impact that's showing on this table, I guess with reference to the average customer, is 4.6 percent.


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And the original number for that
was -- in the original application before the cost of capital update was 2.8 percent, I believe?


MR. ROGER:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Are you able to tell us how many of the increase between 2.8 percent and 4.6 percent is attributable to the increased cost of mitigation as opposed to simply the revenue requirement increase due to the cost of capital update?  So presumably part of the increase is because that class is attracting more of the cost of capital tax, a part of the increased cost of capital, sorry, but also part of it is due to the increase in mitigation; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So can you tell me what the split is?


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


MR. ROGER:  Out of the $280,000, the R1 class was provided $37,000.  Now, out of the $1.9 million, the R1 class is providing $78,000.  So it went up from $37,000 to $78,000.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.  Could you -- I'm going to turn up Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 115(e).


MR. ROGER:  I believe I have that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And here we asked you for the number of customers in the various acquired LDCs -- sorry.  We asked you for those nine specific LDCs, the consumption levels -- the number of customers within the certain consumption levels, namely, the 215 to 500.  I think maybe it's clearer if I show you the question.


So the question at E was, On the schedule provided in response to part (d), please indicate of those customers in now in the R1 class, the number of former Ailsa Craig residential customers that use less than 250 per month, the number of former Arkona customers that use less than 500 per month, and so on.  So specifically, specific LDCs and specific consumption levels within each LDC, and this was the result of that question.


Now, looking at the answer, if I were to tell you that these LDCs at those consumption levels reflect the utilities in R1 customer usage levels where the bill impacts are expected to exceed 10 percent on -- in the original application, based on the original application, they'll exceed 10 percent based on the bill impact table you provided at G-2-47.  So, for example, based on the bill impact in G-2-47, we know that in Fenelon Falls, customers using 500 kilowatt-hours per month will actually experience a 10 percent total bill impact and the same goes for all nine of these LDCs; does that sound right to you?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct, but the dollar impact is not that large.  The percent impact is large but not the dollar impact.  Because when we're harmonizing the rates, we're harmonizing the fixed service charges.  And when you have low consumption, the fixed service charge is a large part of the bill.  So it may not be a large dollar amount but it is a large percent amount.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I haven't characterized the table properly.  In these nine LDCs, based on the original application, it shows you the number of customers that are actually going to experience total bill impacts greater than 10 percent, based on the original application?


MR. ROGER:  We did it based on those utilities identified, so, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And in summary, there were three, so in Arkona, Fenelon Falls and Perth East, customers using 500 kilowatt-hours per month or less will experience 10 percent total bill increase, and based on the old application, and in the rest of them, so Ailsa Craig, Kirkfield, Quinte West, Thorndale, Tweed, and Woodville, when you get down to customers using 250 kilowatt-hours or less, they're experiencing total bill impacts of 10 percent or greater; correct?


MR. ROGER:  This is all based on their 2008 actual consumption, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I think the total amount of customers in that table amount to just 800 out of a total of 400,000 R1 customers.  Subject to check, does that sound right?


MR. ROGER:  Sounds about right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, going back to Exhibit K9.1, attachment 1, table 4, so the same page, I think, that we were at before on table 4.  This is the average customer bill impact for each acquired LDC after the cost of capital update; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.  And after the mitigation.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And after mitigation.


Now, I think it's fair to say that the residential impacts are higher for each and every LDC; is that correct?


MR. ROGER:  I haven't done the comparison but the maximum is still under 10 percent.  Actually, 9.5 percent is the maximum.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yeah, I understand that the maximum is still the same.  But across the board, applying the cost of capital update just increased the residential rates that we have on behalf of each customer.


MR. ROGER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, can you confirm that there are three acquired LDCs where, as a result of the update, including mitigation, customers using 750 kilowatt-hours or less will see total impacts of more than 10 percent?  And I've highlighted them in my table.


I think if you look at Arkona, the average customer is using -- is facing a 10 -- is facing a 9.4 percent increase, and if you drop the usage down to 750, that would appear -- 10 percent, probably?


MR. ROGER:  Without checking, it's quite possible.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And the same goes for the Fenelon Falls; 9.2 percent at -- 9.27 percent for a 1,000 kilowatt-hour per month customer, dropping down 750 kilowatt-hours likely appears to be 10 percent?


MR. ROGER:  It's likely, yes.  The information is in the evidence, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm just identifying the ones where that's likely true.  And Perth East?


MR. ROGER:  Possible, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I am moving to some questions on some of the accounts.  I'm going to start with the OEB cost deferral account, and I'll pull up Exhibit F1, tab 1, schedule 2, page 1, which describes the proposed account.


And, basically, it's intended -- or you're requesting that it would track a difference between approved and actual costs for 2010 and 2011 with respect to OEB cost assessments, intervenor cost awards and costs associated with OEB-initiated studies?


MR. FRASER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And at Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 118(b), you were asked for precedents for this type of account, and the company referenced the Board decision from the last transmission hearing, EB-2008-0272?

MR. FRASER:  Agreed.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And would you agree with me that in that case, the variance that was tracked related solely to the OEB assessment costs?


MR. FRASER:  That's the case.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain, then, why that would be the precedent for tracking not only the OEB assessment costs, but also the intervenor cost awards and costs associated with OEB-initiated studies?


MR. FRASER:  It's not a direct precedent for the additional two aspects of the account.  However, the base nature of the account, we see it as a precedent.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  And I'm going to look at the bill impact mitigation account, and, again, back to the same exhibit.  It would be Exhibit F1, tab 1, schedule 2.  Page 2 describes the account as recording any -- not only foregone revenue, but also the incremental costs of implementing any impact mitigation; correct?


MR. FRASER:  That's the case.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I am going to try to use the quick way.  It's a small question, but we would like the answer.


At Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 99(g) - and I'll pull it up - you talk about there having been, for 2008, approximately $0.1 million required to make changes to the billing system, and that would be tracked in the additional mitigation account?


MR. ROGER:  Could you repeat the question, please?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, I just want to confirm that according to this interrogatory response at Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 99, part (g), it states that roughly $100,000 was incurred making changes to the billing system in 2008 to implement the changes required for mitigation last time.  Do you see that?


MR. FRASER:  See it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And looking at Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 110, attachment 1, page 3 -- and I'll pull it up for you.  It's a simple question.  Now, the continuity schedule for the bill impact mitigation account approved in the last hearing has a balance of zero at December 31st, 2008.


So we have one place you've said there was $100,000 spent, and in the continuity schedule there's nothing in the account.  We just want an explanation of why that would be.


MR. ROGER:  The $100,000 was to implement the additional mitigation measure that we implemented on February 1, 2009 to reduce the billing back to residential customers, for example, that are higher than 15 percent total bill impact to bring their impact down to $3.00.


So the additional bill impact mitigation that we're talking about here is a one-year mitigation that was approved as part of EB-2007-0681, and that started on February 1, 2009 and ends, I guess, at the end of this month.


And on top of the mitigation that we're providing, we incurred $100,000 in getting the billing system ready to be able to do that kind of mitigation.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I'm just confused as to why the -- are you saying that the 2008 costs were put into the account in 2009?


MR. ROGER:  Excuse us, please.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. ROGER:  That's probably what happened.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Did you want to check, give an undertaking?


MR. ROGER:  We can do that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Can we have an undertaking number, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  J9.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.5:  EXPLAIN WHY BALANCE FOR BILL IMPACT MITIGATION ACCOUNT AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 WAS ZERO, WHILE, ACCORDING TO EXHIBIT H, TAB 7, SCHEDULE 99(G) EXPENDITURES WERE MADE IN 2008 RELATING TO IMPLEMENTING MITIGATION MEASURES.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess I should restate it.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  For the record.  So if you could please explain or check why the balance for the bill impact mitigation account at the end of December 31st, 2008 was zero, while at the same time, according to Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 99(g), there were expenditures made in 2008 relating to implementing mitigation measures.  Thank you.


I'm asking you some questions now about the deferral account disposition, and I'm going to turn up Exhibit H, tab 3, schedule 37.


MR. ROGER:  We have that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And the response is that if rates can't be implemented January 1st, 2010, you proposed that there will be no refund of current balances in the deferral accounts over 2010 and 2011, but, rather, the refund will be postponed into 2012.  Is that correct?


MR. ROGER:  No, that's not what we're saying there.  What we're saying there is that we want a refund over the same period until the 2012 rates are implemented, meaning that if the rates would have been implemented on January 1st, 2010, we would have a two-year period to refund that balance.


Let's assume for argument's sake that we're talking about July 1st, 2010 when we implement the rates.  Then the refund will be done over 18 months.  That's what we meant to say there, that the refund will coincide until we change the next distribution rates.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So the start date is determined simply by implementation of rates, and the term is bounded by that date and your next rates case?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Well, actually, no.  It's bounded by January 1st, 2012, even if -- so, for example, if the Board were to deny part of the relief you're requesting, which is that you have rates implemented from January 1, 2010, so basically changing your rate year from May 1st to January 1st, you're still saying you want this deferral account to run from whenever rates are implemented to January 1st, 2012, or would you say until the next rate case is anticipated to give new rates, which could be May 1st, 2012, for example?


MR. ROGER:  The assumption was that the rates will be changing on January 1st from now on.  In your example, if the Board denies that approach and it continues to be May 1st every year, and we implement on May 1st, 2010, then the riders will be over two years also.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  We want to make sure that the rider ends when the distribution rate changes again.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.  That clears it up for me.  Thanks.


Okay.  And I'm going to turn up Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 112, part (a).  Here you cite the Board's decision from the last proceeding as precedent for clearing deferral account balances that are not based on audited statements.


MR. FRASER:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, it's my understanding from reading the decision on that issue that you're referring to that the Board's approval was based on what it called "special circumstances," which included the fact that the proposed disposition led to higher refunds customers than normal practice would, and then therefore would help offset the substantial rate impacts being seen by some of the acquired customers due to rate harmonization.  And that would be from the decision pages 46 and 47.  And just for reference's sake, I'm talking about EB-2007-0681.


Do you recall that from the decision?


MR. FRASER:  I don't recall that, but I'll take it as a given.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I can put it up on the screen.  So at page 46 and 47 of the decision, the Board states:

 "In rate decisions for other distributors, the Board has generally maintained the practice as noted by Board Staff.  However, in addition to the exception noted by Board Staff, there have been other exceptions to that general practice.  The exceptions were for a variety of reasons, unique to each case.

"The unaudited net credit balance of April 30, 2008, is substantially larger than the audited December 31, 2007 balance.  The Board agrees with intervenors that there are extenuating circumstances in this case that also warrant a departure from the general practice.  Despite rate mitigation, there will be substantial rate impacts on the acquired customers arising from harmonization and using the larger April 30, 2008 balances would further mitigate the impacts.  Further the Board sees merit in Board Staff's suggestion to accelerate the disposition.  This would reduce the initial rate impact and it would also lessen intergenerational inequity.

"Accordingly, in the special circumstances presented in this case, the Board approved    the disposition of the April 30th, 2008 $77 million net credit balance, which is listed as a subtotal in the above table and which excludes the smart meter variance account balances."


Would you agree with me that bill impacts for acquired customers continue to be a concern in this application?


MR. FRASER:  I would.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And as I understand it, the balance you're seeking to refund to customers in this case, based on the December 2009 unaudited balances, is $25.8 million, and that's at Exhibit F1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 1, which I'll pull up.


MR. FRASER:  That's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And that if you were to clear the audited balance of the value, subject to refund, that would be $39.9 million cleared to ratepayers.


MR. FRASER:  That's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So is it fair to say that in departing from the standard practice of clearing audited balances, as suggested by Hydro One, that it will actually lead to higher bills in 2010 than doing it on the audited balances, and therefore in the circumstances that we're talking about today, they're very different from the last case, where clearing the unaudited balances helped mitigate the total bill impact?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct, but another reason that the balances are changing is the RTSR variance account, the RSVA for RTSR.  The uniform transmission rates were reduced substantially in the uniform transmission rates in 2007 up to 2008.  But we could only implement the associated retail transmission service rates on February 2009.  So we know that that variance that had been accumulated up to the end of 2008 will gradually disappear as the RTSR we are charging customers now reflect more appropriately the uniform transmission rates they were getting charged.  And that's the reason that the audited results have a higher credit to customers than what expect to happen by the end of 2009.  So we could give a larger credit to customers now, based on the audited results, but we know that eventually that balance of the account is going to change and we'll need to collect from customers in the future, then.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And my understanding is that that's usually the case, though, isn't it?  The unaudited amounts are different than the audited amounts, and the Board's general practice is to use the audited amounts; correct?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And that you cited as precedent for doing the same thing in this case, i.e., to using the unaudited balances, the last rate case, but in the last rate case, the very specific circumstances was that using the unaudited balance would help mitigate rate impact; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And in this case, using the unaudited balances would actually aggravate the total bill impact; correct?


MR. ROGER:  Could you repeat the last statement, please?


MR. BUONAGURO:  If you use the unaudited balance, which is a deviation from normal Board practice, in this case you will increase the total bill impact relative to using the audited balances?


MR. ROGER:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have a quick question about the smart meter account balances.  Can you confirm that the 2007 audited balances for the smart meter deferral accounts were filed and considered as part of the Board's EB-2007-0681 decision and that the costs of those meters were approved for inclusion in rate base?


MR. FRASER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Looking at Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 97, part (a), in the response, it shows separately 2007 minimum functionality costs not yet approved, totalling $1.8 million.  Could you explain why there appears to be 2007 capital-related costs that are unapproved when the Board approved the inclusion of the audited 2007 costs in rate base?


MR. FRASER:  I'm sorry, I don't get the reference you're giving.


MR. BUONAGURO:  How do you mean?  This is in interrogatory response H, tab 7, schedule 97, part (a), and it's showing 2007 MF, which I presume means minimum functionality, not yet approved.


MR. FRASER:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Equally $1.8 million.  And it was our understanding that all of the 2007 smart meter costs were already approved and in rate base, so we're trying to figure out --


MR. FRASER:  Oh, I'm sorry, I must have misspoken.  Because the 2007, I believe, were in rate base up to, I think it was August -- sorry, May 31st.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that --


MR. FRASER:  There's a split on 2007.  Part of 2007 is in rate base -- is approved, and part of 2007 is not approved.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that's, to be more precise, it shouldn't say 2007, it should say 2007 post --


MR. FRASER:  Well, post decision.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you very much.


I have a couple or maybe one question on pension costs.  Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 110.


MR. FRASER:  Yeah.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I'm looking attachment 1, page 3, which is very small.  And I can blow it up in a second, but I'm looking under deferred pension costs.  There's a 2009 transaction of $400,000.  I'll see if I can find it.  There.  (Indicating blow-up on screen)


So that's showing a transaction of --

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  I'll take it that's just for me.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It's not always elegant.  Yeah, so basically there's a $400,000 transaction in the pension cost account in 2009, and we don't know what it is.  So we thought you could tell us.


MR. FRASER:  You were wrong.  I'll have to take an undertaking on that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So, sorry, as of right now, either you don't know what it is or you know that that shouldn't be there and you want to make sure?


MR. FRASER:  No, I don't know what that is, so I'll have to identify what the transaction is.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'll take that undertaking.


MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J9.6, and that's to identify the 400,000 transaction in -- what's the exhibit?


MR. BUONAGURO:  It's Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 110, attachment 1, page 3 under deferred pension costs, a 2009 transaction of 400,000, to explain what that's for.

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.6:  TO EXPLAIN $400,000 2009 TRANSACTION IN EXHIBIT H, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 110, ATTACHMENT 1, PAGE 3 UNDER DEFERRED PENSION COSTS AND IF THERE WERE TRANSACTIONS IN 2008, AND, IF NOT, WHY.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And could you also explain why there were no transactions in 2008?  Can you do that now, or do you want to make that part of the undertaking?


MR. FRASER:  I'm not expecting to see a transaction, so I think if I identify the 400,000, that will probably explain why there's no transactions in 2008.  But we'll include that in the answer.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.


I'm going to move on to the OEB cost account.  It's on the same page.  In 2007, you showed transactions of 700,000 -- I'm assuming you have a copy that you can actually see?


MR. FRASER:  With my reading glasses.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So in 2007 you show transactions in the OEB cost account of 700,000.  Was this the amount that was approved for disposition in the last case?


MR. FRASER:  I'm afraid I don't know that.  Again, I'll have to take an undertaking, if you're looking for specific transaction detail.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And -- all right.  So I'll do an -- we'll call it an OEB costs account undertaking.


MR. MILLAR:  J9.7.  And would you repeat exactly what you're looking for, Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  So the first question -- it's the same reference as the last one, Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 110, attachment 1, page 3, the OEB costs account.  2007 shows a transaction of 700,000, and I just wanted confirmation that was the amount approved for disposition in the last case.  And then it shows -- I'm assuming this might end up being part of the same undertaking.  At the end of December 31st, 2008, there was a zero balance in the principal account and a zero closing interest amount.


MR. FRASER:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. FRASER:  That all makes sense, but I don't want to assume.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that makes sense to you.  What doesn't make sense to us is why, then, there would be $100,000 in projected interest costs to April 30, 2010?


MR. FRASER:  I don't know -- where's the reference for that, please?  That's in the next page?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have to look.  No.  Where am I looking here?  Sorry.  So I'm looking at -- let me just make sure I have the right page reference for you.  This is H-1-110, attachment 1, page 2 of 3, so it's one page back.  I apologize.


And if you track the OEB costs line across, I believe that's -- no.  This is where the computer part gets hard.


MR. FRASER:  I see it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You see it?


MR. FRASER:  Yeah.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So you know where you're looking at.  The question is:  As of the end of 2008, you have zero -- principal, zero interest, so we're wondering where the $100,000 in projected interest cost comes for 2009 -- or projected interest costs to April 30 of 2010 of $100,000.  We don't know where that comes from.


We understand $100,000 may be, in the grand scheme of things, not a lot, but we want to understand what mechanism creates that amount in the account, despite the fact that there's no principal and no interest before that.


MR. FRASER:  So I'll clarify that as part of the same undertaking.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  And that's J9.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.7:  TO CONFIRM OEB COSTS ACCOUNT FOR 2007 IN EXHIBIT H, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 110, ATTACHMENT 1, PAGE 3, AND TO CLARIFY $100,000 IN PROJECTED INTEREST COSTS TO APRIL 2010.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm going to ask some questions about the proposal to set up a deferral account for the fixed charges for the microFIT generators, which I think I opened with.


The proposal, as I understand it, is to set up a deferral account to capture revenues from the pending charge for microFIT generators and return those monies to ratepayers at some future date; correct?


MR. FRASER:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I couldn't hear what you said.


MR. FRASER:  That's right.  Sorry.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And, as a result, there are no revenues recorded in the account at this time, including the application.  So you haven't forecast any amounts?


MR. FRASER:  No, we haven't.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's confirmed at Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 120, (a) and (b), for reference's sake.


Now, we've discussed the microFIT generators at length earlier in the hearing, and, for example, at Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 54, which I referred to in a previous panel cross, for the purposes of planning customer care costs to be claimed in the application, there was an assumption of 130 FIT contracts annually and 3,600 microFIT contracts annually.  Do you see that?


MR. FRASER:  I can see that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding from that is that means that -- so for 2010, they're assuming 3,600 contracts, and then an additional 3,600 contracts in 2011.  Why wouldn't it be reasonable to use these values to forecast microFIT charge revenues and build such revenues into the current revenue requirement application for 2010/2011, and then capture the difference in the variance account?


MR. ROGER:  I guess that could be done, but there are two unknowns here.  We don't know -- 3,600 is a guess.  It could be higher; it could be lower.  And we also don't know if the charge is going to be as we proposed, the $6.15, or if it's going to be something different.


So we don't know, really, if we wanted to guess, what the amount was going to be.  At this stage, we're not sure, because we don't know -- don't have an approved rate yet.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand.  But that's presumably one justification for capturing the difference in a variance account, right, because presumably the variance from zero is much larger than the variance from some sort of approximation, knowing that there's going to be charges and the Board is going to issue an actual charge amount, and that you -- I think the OPA has already announced some level of contracts.


MR. ROGER:  Yes.  The issue is:  Do we want to give the credit right away, which is what you're suggesting, and track in a variance account and true it up later on, or track in a variance account now and give the actual amount back to customers once we know what the actual amounts are.


MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding is you're not fundamentally opposed to the idea.  You're just musing over what assumptions you would use for the charge and for the numbers of contracts?


MR. ROGER:  As long as it's a true-up mechanism at the end.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. ROGER:  That's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Okay.  So I'm moving on to the part of my cross I understand the least, which is the load forecasting.


MS. NOWINA:  Then why don't we leave it until tomorrow, Mr. Buonaguro, and give you one more night to go over it?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That would be great.  Thank you.

Procedural Matters:


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Before we break today, I'd just like to make a couple of comments about our schedule.


We certainly expect tomorrow to complete the cross-examination of this panel.  We will then hear submissions in CCC's motion.  We had planned to have argument-in-chief tomorrow, but it wouldn't be appropriate to continue with that until we've heard and decided on the motion.


So what we will do is if the motion is granted, then we'll have to put a procedural order which will assign next steps.


If the motion is denied, we have set aside the time just in that event, and so if the motion is denied, we will hear argument in-chief on Thursday at 2:00 in the afternoon.


MR. ROGERS:  Could I ask the Board, Madam Chair, to give us any guidance if I can, perhaps you can't right now, but on argument?  I'm concerned about -- our schedule is slipping away on us here and I'm concerned about argument.  A draft -- or a proposal for argument timetable was floated which is acceptable to us, and any guidance you can give us on that for our planning would be most appreciated, either now or tomorrow, wherever.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm afraid we can't, Mr. Rogers, until we've heard the motion and made a decision on the motion.  We'll then address it.


We'll now adjourn for the today.  We'll resume tomorrow morning at 9 o'clock.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:16 p.m.
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